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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512


Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512
	CHARLENE WOLFE, 

                                  Employee, 

                                           Applicant,

                                                 v. 
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HIGHWAY SYSTEM,
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200517018M; 200614753
AWCB Decision No. 12-0213

Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

On December 19, 2012


Charlene Wolfe’s (Employee) April 5, 2007 and March 10, 2011 workers’ compensation claims were heard on September 11, 2012, in Juneau, Alaska.  The hearing date was selected on March 13, 2012.  Employee appeared and testified.  Attorney Chancy Croft appeared and represented Employee.  Attorney Patricia Huna appeared and represented the State of Alaska, Department of Transportation, Alaska Marine Highway System (Employer).  In-person witnesses included Employee and Myron Fribush, M.D.  Telephonic witnesses included Patricia Green, Thomas Mills, and Stephen Fuller, M.D.  Sidney Levine, M.D. and John Cleary, M.D. testified by deposition.  The parties agreed to narrow the hearing issues to the following: back, left shoulder, knees and headache.  

The record was left open until October 1, 2012, for receipt of Employer’s objection to Employee’s supplemental affidavit of attorney’s fees and costs.  Employer objected to Employee’s supplemental affidavit on October 1, 2012.  On October 31, 2012, the panel on its own motion reopened the hearing record for additional evidence pursuant to 8 AAC 45.120(m).  The additional evidence was received on November 23, 2012.  The record closed on December 17, 2012, after further deliberation.

ISSUES

Employee contends she is entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment for her spine, left shoulder, knees, and headaches, which she contends arise out of and in the course of her employment with Employer.  She seeks an order awarding past and ongoing medical treatment and related transportation costs.  Employer contends Employee had preexisting degenerative joint disease in her spine, left shoulder, and knees, and had headaches prior to her employment with Employer.  Employer contends Employee did not have any work-related injury to or aggravation of her preexisting conditions.  Because Employee’s past and current symptoms are not work-related and no further medical treatment attributable to the work injury is needed, it contends Employee is not entitled to medical treatment and related transportation costs.

1) Is Employee entitled to past and continuing medical treatment and related transportation costs for her spine, left shoulder, knees, and headaches?

Employee contends she is entitled to temporary partial disability (TPD) for periods she worked for Employer at reduced hours following her injury.  She seeks a TPD award.  Employer contends Employee’s work-related conditions were medically stable by December 2006 at the latest.  It contends Employee’s reduced hours were not related to her work injuries.  Employer seeks an order denying TPD.

2) Is Employee entitled to TPD benefits?

Employee contends she has been unable because of her injury to earn the wages she was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.  She seeks an order awarding additional temporary total disability (TTD) benefits.  Employer contends Employee suffered at the most work-related strains and was medically stable at the time of Dr. Brigham’s November 2006 employer’s independent medical evaluation (EIME).  Employer contends AS 23.30.105(a) bars Employee’s claim for TTD benefits prior to March 7, 2009, because she did not file a claim for these benefits until March 7, 2011.  Employer also contends Employee is not entitled to TTD after 2011, because no claim has been filed for TTD after 2011.

3) Is Employee entitled to additional TTD benefits?

Employee contends she has incurred work-related permanent partial impairment (PPI) as a result of her work injury.  She seeks a PPI award.  Because Employee’s past and current symptoms are not work-related, Employer contends Employee is not entitled to PPI.  It seeks an order denying PPI.

4) Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits?

Employee contends because she has work-related PPI and is unable to return to work because of her work injury, she is entitled to reemployment benefits.  She requests an order so stating.  Employer contends Employee has no work-related PPI and any inability to return to work is not work-related.  It contends Employee is not entitled to reemployment benefits.

5) Is Employee entitled to reemployment benefits?

Employee contends her September 2005 work injury is a substantial factor in her ongoing disability and need for medical treatment.  She contends her disability compensation rate should be based on her earnings at the time of her September 2005 injury.  Employee asks for an order increasing her temporary disability rate for all purposes.  Employer contends it properly calculated Employee’s compensation rate.  It contends Employee’s rate is based on her earnings at the time of her September 2006 injury.  It seeks an order denying the compensation rate adjustment claim.

6) Is Employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment?

Employee contends her attorney provided valuable legal services in a complex case with many issues.  Employee contends she is entitled to an award of her actual fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  Employer contends Employee is not entitled to any benefit she seeks, and is thus not entitled to an attorney fee award.  Alternatively, Employer contends Employee is only entitled to an award of fees for services performed with respect to issues on which she prevails, Employee should not be entitled to an award of fees for services performed on claims withdrawn prior to hearing, and fees should be reduced for any claims which Employee successfully prosecuted only in part.  Employer did not otherwise object to Employee’s attorney’s hourly rate, hours or costs.  

7) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs, and if so, how much?


FINDINGS OF FACT

The following facts and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) Employee has a history of treatment for her spine, summarized as follows:
a. Cervical:
i. On August 22, 1979, an unknown provider treated Employee for “cracking neck” and toe pain with exercise and stated Employee needs uric acid workup.  Employee reported she had “muscle pain in neck” two years ago.  The assessment was gouty arthritis and resolving traumatic arthritis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, August 22, 1979).
ii. On June 21, 1985, Alicia Roberts Medical Center (ARMC) treated Employee for neck pain, fever and chills.  The assessment was, “Viral?” and Employee was prescribed Tylenol.  (Chart Note, ARMC, June 21, 1985).
iii. On April 17, 1986, ARMC treated Employee for left shoulder pain and diagnosed left trapezius area spasm and fibrositis.  Employee reported a history of left shoulder area pain since a certain date, but the date referenced is illegible.  (Chart Note, ARMC, April 17, 1986).
iv. On March 8, 1988, ARMC treated Employee for pubic bone, ear and neck pain and diagnosed “UTI” and otitis media.  (Chart Note, ARMC, March 9, 1988). 
v. On December 29, 1988, an unknown provider treated Employee for neck pain after a fall and diagnosed second degree whiplash.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, December 29, 1988). 
vi. On January 18, 1989, ARMC treated Employee for continuing ear and neck pain and diagnosed otitis media and whiplash.   (Chart Note, ARMC, January 18, 1989).
vii. On March 23, 2005, an unknown provider treated Employee for left trapezius muscle pain and diagnosed trapezius muscle strain/spasm.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, March 23, 2005).
b. Thoracic:
i. On March 23, 1984, an unknown provider treated Employee for a urinary tract infection (UTI) and diagnosed resolving UTI and mid back strain.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, March 23, 1984).

ii. On March 31, 1986, ARMC treated Employee for pain, “in left back below bra line” and diagnosed back pain and phlegm.  (Chart Note, ARMC, March 31, 1986).

c. Lumbar:
i. On November 6, 1980, an unknown provider treated Employee for low backache and diagnosed probable UTI.  The provider noted Employee’s history of frequent UTI.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, November 6, 1980).
ii. On May 16, 1984, an unknown provider treated Employee for hip pain and diagnosed left sacroiliac back strain.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, May 16, 1984).

iii. On January 12, 1990, an unknown provider treated Employee for abdominal cramps which had originally started in her low back and diagnosed a possible pulled muscle.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, January 12, 1990).

iv. On October 23, 1991, an unknown provider treated Employee for back pain and diagnosed lower back pain.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, October 23, 1991).

v. On July 29, 1996, Duane Draper, PA-C, treated Employee for low back pain and assessed back spasm.  Employee was restricted from working for two days.  (Chart Note, Draper, July 29, 1996).

vi. On April 18, 2004, Kurt Welser, PA-C, treated Employee for low back pain and assessed right-sided mechanical low back strain.  Employee reported she twisted her low back while lifting a suitcase.  (Chart Note, Welser, April 18, 2004).

vii. On a document too faded to ascertain a date, an unknown provider treated Employee and diagnosed low back and hip pain.  (Chart Note, Document and Provider Name Illegible, Unknown Date).

d. Back region not specified:
i. On March 13, 1984, an unknown provider treated Employee for back pain and diagnosed UTI.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, March 13, 1984).

ii. On October 26, 1992, an unknown provider treated Employee for chest and back pain and diagnosed back tension and muscle strain.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, October 26, 1992).

iii. On November 12, 1993, Employee sought urinalysis because she had been having back pain.  An unknown provider assessed “blood in the urine.”  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, November 12, 1993).

iv. On May 16, 1994, an unknown provider treated Employee’s costochondritis.  The report states Employee went to Ketchikan and, “was supposed to get block shot . . . denied block due to getting back popped.”  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, May 16, 1994).

v. On November 1, 1994, an unknown provider treated Employee for tight back and shoulders.  Employee reported her chiropractor adjusted her chest and, “now it went into my back.”  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, November 1, 1994).
vi. On October 20, 1995, an unknown provider treated Employee for chest muscle and back pain and diagnosed costochondritis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, October 20, 1995).
vii. On September 13, 1996, an unknown provider treated Employee for shoulder, chest and back pain and diagnosed bronchitis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, September 13, 1996).
viii. On April 17, 1998, an unknown provider treated Employee for muscle strain and diagnosed costal chondritis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, April 17, 1998).
ix. On a document too faded to ascertain a date, an unknown provider treated Employee and diagnosed back pain.  (Chart Note, Document and Provider Name Illegible, Unknown Date).

2) Employee has a history of treatment for her left shoulder, summarized as follows:
a. On April 17, 1986, ARMC treated Employee for left shoulder pain and diagnosed left trapezius area spasm and fibrositis.  Employee reported a history of left shoulder area pain since a certain date, but the date referenced is illegible.  (Chart Note, ARMC, April 17, 1986).
b. On September 13, 1996, an unknown provider treated Employee for shoulder, chest and back pain, and diagnosed bronchitis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, September 13, 1996).
3) Employee has a history of treatment for her knees, summarized as follows: 
a. On May 11, 1984, an unknown provider treated Employee for right hip pain, and diagnosed hip pain.  Employee reported twitching from hip to knee.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, May 11, 1984).

b. On November 16, 1994, an unknown provider treated Employee for right knee pain after a fall and assessed right knee pain.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, November 16, 1994).

c. On January 25, 1995, an unknown provider treated Employee for right knee pain and diagnosed right knee pain and possible meniscal injury.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, January 25, 1995).

d. On February 1, 1995, an unknown provider treated Employee and assessed costochondritis and right knee pain.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, February 1, 1995).

e. On March 15, 1995, an unknown provider treated Employee for continuing right knee pain following a November 1994 right knee injury and diagnosed right knee pain and sinusitis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, March 15, 1995).

f. 
On April 8, 2002, an unknown provider treated Employee for knee pain and diagnosed left knee pain.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, April 8, 2002).

g. On April 8, 2002, Brent Long, PA-C treated Employee for left knee pain and diagnosed left knee pain with probable medial collateral strain secondary to hallux valgus deformity.  (Chart Note, Long, April 8, 2002).

4) Employee has a history of treatment for headache, summarized as follows:
a. On July 10, 1985, ARMC treated Employee for, “headaches in the back of her neck” for about a month and the assessment was “headaches.”  Employee reported it was the same symptoms she had on June 21, 1985, when the caused was assessed as viral.  (Chart Note, ARMC, July 10, 1985).
b. On August 16, 1991, an unknown provider treated Employee for headache and sinus pressure and diagnosed sinusitis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, August 16, 1991).
c. On December 28, 1992, an unknown provider treated Employee for mucous cough and headache.  Employee reported getting a tension headache and having sinus pain.  The provider diagnosed sinusitis and blood in urine.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, December 28, 1992).

d. On October 4, 2002, an unknown provider evaluated Employee for a Coast Guard physical and diagnosed acute sinusitis.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, October 4, 2002).

e. On a document too faded to ascertain a date, an unknown provider treated Employee for headache and diagnosed possible sinusitis.  (Chart Note, Document and Provider Name Illegible, Unknown Date).

5) On September 20, 2005, Employee slipped and fell onto a steel floor while working for Employer.  Employee stepped over a lip of a ferry door and onto a wet floor sign.  When she stepped onto the sign with her left foot, she started sliding.  She brought her right foot forward, which caused her to fall forward onto her left knee.  The sign then went out from under her, taking Employee’s right knee and leg out with it at an angle to the right and backwards, flipping Employee backwards.  Employee threw her hands out to catch herself with her arms and landed hard on her buttocks and left arm on the steel floor.  Employee immediately hurt all over.  (Report of Injury, October 3, 2005; Wolfe).

6) On September 21, 2005, Karl Richey, M.D., at Ketchikan General Hospital evaluated Employee and diagnosed acute back pain, acute cervical strain, thoracic strain, lumbar strain, and sprained right hip and knees.  (Emergency Department Note, Dr. Richey, September 21, 2005).

7) On September 21, 2005, Dr. Richey restricted Employee from working until October 2, 2005.  (Unfit/Fit for Duty Form, Dr. Richey, September 21, 2005).

8) On September 23, 2005, Peggy Englebrake, M.D., at ARMC treated Employee for pain in numerous body parts including back, neck, shoulders, and left knee.  Employee was restricted from working for seven days.  (Return to Work Release, Provider Name Illegible, September 23, 2005; Unfit/Fit for Duty Form, Chart Note, Physician’s Report, Dr. Englebrake, September 23, 2005).
9) On September 23, 2005, a cervical spine x-ray showed normal alignment but with moderate disk space loss at C5-6 and to a lesser extent at C6-7.  The levels showed minimal anterior and posterior endplate osteophytes as well as small, bilateral uncovertebral osteophytes.  The impression was multilevel degenerative disk disease without fracture or subluxation.  (Radiologist Report, David Vanderburgh, M.D., September 23, 2005).
10) On September 23, 2005, a pelvis x-ray showed no fracture or dislocation.  Lower lumbar spine x-ray showed moderate disk space loss at L4-5 associated with vacuum disk phenomenon, sclerosis, and osteophyte formation.  The impression was intact pelvis, and degenerative changes of the lower lumbar spine.  (Radiologist Report, David Vanderburgh, M.D., September 23, 2005).
11) On September 26, 2005, Dr. Englebrake referred Employee to massage therapy with Nancy Abbott.  (Chart Note, Dr. Englebrake, September 26, 2005).
12) On September 26, 2005, massage therapist Abbott treated Employee for pain in numerous body parts.  Employee reported headache and pain in her neck, back, shoulder, and knee.  (Massage Therapy Note, Abbott, September 26, 2005).
13) On September 29, 2005, a cervical spine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan showed cervical spondylosis with disc bulging, most prominent at C6-7, minimal central disc bulging and minimal foraminal narrowing bilaterally at C4-5, minimal central disc bulging and minimal foraminal narrowing, worse on the left than on the right at C5-6, and moderate central disc bulging and moderate foraminal narrowing bilaterally, worse on the right than on the left at C6-7.  (Radiologist Report, W. Gray Mason, M.D., September 29, 2005).
14) Employee treated her work injury conservatively with medication and massage therapy.  Although Employee improved with this treatment in many body parts, she continued to experience significant pain in her cervical and thoracic spine and left shoulder.  She also continued to have headaches.  Dr. Englebrake continued to restrict Employee from returning to work and referred her to an orthopedist for left shoulder evaluation.  (Unfit/Fit for Duty From, Dr. Englebrake, September 27, 2005, October 4, 2005; Massage Therapy Note, Abbott, September 28, 2005, October 4, 2005, October 5, 2005, October 8, 2005, October 11, 2005; October 17, 2005; Chart Note, Dr. Englebrake, October 4, 2005, October 7, 2005; October 10, 2005, October 14, 2005, October 17, 2005, October 25, 2005).
15) On October 12, 2005, a left shoulder MRI showed (1) focal area of thinning and slight increased signal involving bursal aspect of the cuff involving the posterior supraspinatus consistent with bursal surface erosion/partial tear, and (2) some fluid in the subacromial subdeltoid bursa and hypertrophy of the acromioclavicular joint with anterior hooking of the acromion, all consistent with prominent bursitis and possible impingement morphology.  (Radiologist Report, Jon Ekstrom, M.D., October 12, 2005).
16) On November 1, 2005, Alan Wolf, M.D., evaluated Employee for left shoulder and neck pain and diagnosed cervical spine strain and possible left shoulder strain or cuff tear.  Dr. Wolf referred Employee for physical therapy.  Dr. Wolf confirmed the left shoulder MRI showed focal areas of thinning and slightly increased signal involving the bursal aspect of the cuff involving the supraspinatus, consistent with bursal surface erosion/partial tear and some fluid in the subacromial, subdeltoid bursa and hypertrophy of the AC joint.  He stated the tear is up to 50% thickness of the cuff and 1 cm in diameter.  Dr. Wolf also confirmed the cervical MRI showed cervical spondylosis with disk bulging, most prominent at C6-7, mild to moderate foraminal narrowing bilaterally at C4-5 and C5-6, worse on left than on right, and moderate central disk bulging as well as bilateral foraminal narrowing at C6-7.  Employee’s cervical spine had full range of motion but with some discomfort when flexing.  (Chart Note, Dr. Wolfe, November 1, 2005; Physical Therapy Progress Notes, November 8, 2005, December 20, 2005).
17) On December 1, 2005, Dr. Wolf treated Employee for continuing neck and left shoulder pain, diagnosed cervical spondylosis, and referred her to a spine surgeon.  He restricted Employee from working until after further evaluation of her cervical condition.  Employee’s cervical spine had full range of motion but with significant discomfort when rotating to the right or left.  (Chart Note, Dr. Wolf, December 1, 2005; Physical Therapy Note, Provider Name Illegible, December 1, 2005).
18) On December 13, 2005, St. Elmo Newton III, M.D., at Seattle Orthopaedic and Fracture Clinic, evaluated Employee for headaches and pain to multiple body parts including her neck, low back, legs, and left shoulder.  Dr. Newton recommended conservative treatment with anti-inflammatory medication, physical therapy and steroid injections before considering cervical spine surgery.  He also noted Employee’s partial thickness rotator cuff tear and opined if Employee failed to respond to subacromial injections, surgery may be required.  (Evaluation Report, Dr. Newton, December 13, 2005; Letter from Dr. Newton to Dr. Wolf, December 13, 2005).
19) On December 16, 2005, Matthew Dinon, D.O., at ARMC restricted Employee from working until March 2006.  (Certification of Health Care Provider, Dr. Dinon, December 16, 2005; Letter from Dr. Dinon to Wells Fargo, December 16, 2005).
20) On February 16, 2007, Dr. Dinon treated Employee for neck and back pain.  He, “asked [Employee] to consider that she may have a parallel or underlying mood disorder, which certainly is understandable with the stress that she is having….”  (Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, February 16, 2007).
21) On March 7, 2006, a left shoulder magnetic resonance arthrogram (MRA) showed: 1) a partial superior surface tear of the supraspinatus and partial undersurface tear of the subscapularis, 2) tendinosis of the biceps and degenerative superior labral anterior-posterior (SLAP) lesion, and 3) small partial tear at the origin of the deltoid.  (Radiologist Report, Margaret Linn, M.D., March 7, 2006).
22) On May 2, 2006, a thoracic spine MRI showed: (1) very mild right paracentral T4-5 disk bulge that does not abut the spinal cord, (2) small right paracentral T6-7 disk bulge that does not abut the spinal cord, (3) left paracentral T7-8 and T8-9 disk bulges that do not abut the spinal cord, and (4) T9-10 posterior disk bulge that does not abut the spinal cord but which may cause very mild cord distortion.  (Radiologist Report, Kristin Manning, M.D., May 2, 2006).
23) On May 2, 2006, a cervical spine MRI showed: (1) a posterior disk bulge and osteophyte formation at C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7 with the worse level at C6-7 in which the disk bulge and osteophyte abut the ventral spinal cord, and (2) a disk bulge and osteophyte extending into the neural foramen causing multi-level neural foraminal stenosis with the worst being moderate right C6-7, moderate left C5-6 and mild to moderate right C4-5.  (Radiologist Report, Kristin Manning, M.D., May 2, 2006).
24) On May 2, 2006, Dr. Newton treated Employee for shoulder and spine pain and reviewed the May 2, 2006 MRIs.  He opined the cervical spine MRI showed disk bulges at C-4, C-5 and C-6 with the biggest at C-5.  He also noted bulging disks at T-8 and T-9.  He provided a shoulder injection which greatly relieved Employee’s shoulder symptoms.  Dr. Newton stated if Employee’s left shoulder did not soon resolve, he would recommend arthroscopic acromioplasty and resection of her distal clavicle.  (Chart Note, Dr. Newton, May 2, 2006).
25) Employee continued to treat her work injury conservatively.  Although conservative treatment allowed Employee better range of motion, provided some headache relief, and provided enough pain and muscle spasm relief so Employee could sleep some at night, Employee continued to experience significant pain in her cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine and left shoulder.  She also continued to have headaches.  (Letter from Dr. Dinon to Harbor Adjustment Service, May 30, 2006; Massage Therapy Notes, Abbott, June 2, 2006- June 30, 2006; Chart Note, ARMC, June 6, 2006; Chart Note, ARMC, June 22, 2006).
26) From September 2005 to June 20, 2006, Employer accepted Employee’s work injury as compensable and paid Employee workers’ compensation benefits.  (Compensation Report, July 12, 2006).
27) On June 20, 2006, orthopedic surgeon Lance Brigham, M.D., examined Employee for an EIME.  Employee did not have any knee swelling or pain upon examination.  Dr. Brigham diagnosed work-related cervical, thoracic and lumbar sprain, bilateral knee contusions and left shoulder sprain.  He opined Employee’s September 2005 work injury temporarily aggravated Employee’s preexisting degenerative changes of the cervical spine and acromioclavicular joint arthritis of the left shoulder but opined Employee’s continuing left shoulder, cervical spine, thoracic spine and lumbar spine conditions “are all just natural progression.”  He further opined Employee was medically stable as of EIME and could return to her job at the time of injury without restrictions.  Dr. Brigham stated Employee had no work-related permanent impairment.  (EIME Report, Dr. Brigham, June 20, 2006).
28) On July 12, 2006, Employer controverted all benefits after June 20, 2006, based on Dr. Brigham’s EIME report.  (Controversion Notice, July 12, 2006; Employee Hearing Brief at 5, September 7, 2012).
29) On August 2, 2006, Dr. Dinon opined Employee was unable to return to work, explaining, “I do not think Charlene is safe at work due to subjective pain from a combination of problems.”  Dr. Dinon referred Employee to a neurologist and orthopedist and stated, “I will defer to those specialist opinions to determine her work status.”  (Return to Work Release, Dr. Dinon, August 2, 2006).
30) On August 16, 2006, at Employee’s request, Dr. Dinon released Employee to work without restrictions but continued to treat Employee for her ongoing neck and back pain.  (Return to Work Release, Dr. Dinon, August 16, 2006; Unfit/Fit for Duty Form, Dr. Dinon, August 25, 2006; Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, August 22, 2006; Chart Note, ARMC, September 2, 2006).
31) On September 10, 2006, Employee returned to work for Employer.  (Wolfe; Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, September 27, 2006).
32) On September 11, 2006, Employee felt very sharp, severe neck, back and left shoulder pain while placing a tray of salad into a cooler.  (Chart Note, ARMC, September 15, 2006; Report of Injury, September 22, 2006).
33) On September 15, 2006, Randy Taylor, M.D., at ARMC, treated Employee for neck and shoulder pain and headaches.  Dr. Taylor restricted Employee from working until November 1, 2006, because of cervical and left shoulder strains and thoracic pain.  (Chart Note; Unfit/Fit for Duty Form, Dr. Taylor, September 15, 2006).
34) On September 18, 2006, Dr. Dinon treated Employee for neck, mid- and upper-back and left shoulder pain.  Dr. Dinon diagnosed cervical and thoracic pain and degenerative disc disease.  (Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, September 18, 2006).
35) On September 27, 2006, Dr. Dinon treated Employee again for neck, mid-back and left shoulder pain.  Employee reported her current symptoms differed from her previous work injury symptoms, explaining the current pain was, “more concentrated and sharp in her midline of her neck, radiating to both trapezius areas, especially in the left.”  She also reported, “tension headaches in the past from time to time but now there is radiating pain and muscle tension that seems to be constant.”  Dr. Dinon diagnosed continuing cervical and thoracic pain and opined her complaints and symptoms were work related.  (Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, September 27, 2006).
36) On September 27, 2006, Dr. Dinon restricted Employee from working.  (Unfit/Fit for Duty Form, Dr. Dinon, September 27, 2006).
37) On November 14, 2006, Dr. Brigham examined Employee for an EIME.  Dr. Brigham diagnosed: (1) cervical sprain, related to September 2006 work injury, (2) preexisting degenerative disc disease of the cervicothoracic spine, and (3) preexisting degenerative changes of the left acromioclavicular joint, partial-thickness left rotator cuff tear, and possible SLAP lesion.  He opined Employee’s September 2006 work injury caused a cervical sprain but did not aggravate Employee’s underlying cervical, thoracic and left shoulder preexisting conditions.  Dr. Brigham again opined Employee was medically stable as of the EIME and could return to her job at the time of injury without restrictions.  Dr. Brigham stated Employee has no work-related permanent impairment.  He opined, “it is not felt that the injury of September 11, 2006, was a temporary aggravation or a permanent worsening.”  (EIME Report, Dr. Brigham, November 14, 2006).
38) On February 16, 2007, Dr. Dinon treated Employee for continuing neck and back pain and diagnosed: (1) neck and shoulder pain and (2) work injury and subsequent continued pain.  Dr. Dinon noted Employee had been volunteering for Craig emergency medical services (EMS).  Her duties consisted of driving, and writing on a clipboard.  Dr. Dinon opined Employee could return to work, “in something that would not make her vulnerable for worse injury or pain” such as light duty work involving no repetitive motions or lifting over her shoulder and no forced prolonged sitting.  Dr. Dinon did not recommend continued medication other than Toradol injections from time to time.  Dr. Dinon referred Employee for consultation with a neurologist.  (Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, February 16, 2007). 
39) On April 5, 2007, a cervical spine MRI showed: (1) multilevel degenerative disc disease seen primarily at C4-C5, C5-C6, and C6-C7 levels with anterior and posterior disc osteophyte complexes; “impression of the cord anteriorly” with some effacement of the anterior thecal sac, and (2) no evidence of central canal stenosis nor neural foraminal narrowing.  (Radiologist Report, Eric Hoover, M.D., April 5, 2007). 
40) On April 5, 2007, a thoracic spine MRI showed: (1) degenerative changes of the thoracic spine without evidence of central canal stenosis or neural foraminal narrowing.  (Radiologist Report, Eric Hoover, M.D., April 5, 2007).
41) On April 5, 2007, a left shoulder x-ray showed moderate acromioclavicular degenerative change.  (Radiologist Report, Eric Hoover, M.D., April 5, 2007). 
42) On April 5, 2007, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim for TTD, TPD and a compensation rate adjustment.  Employee checked the boxes for both TTD and TPD, although she wrote in and then scratched out specific total disability dates.  (Claim, April 5, 2007).
43) On April 6, 2007, Bradley Smith, M.D., evaluated Employee for left shoulder pain, diagnosed a work-related injury with subsequent complaints of axial neck and shoulder pain, and recommended physical therapy.  (Chart Note, Dr. Smith, April 6, 2007).

44) On April 10, 2007, Allan Troupin, M.D., evaluated Employee for headaches and back pain and referred Employee for a neurosurgical consultation.  (Chart Note, Dr. Troupin, April 10, 2007).

45) On August 3, 2007, a prehearing conference was held but Employee did not appear.  The prehearing conference summary listed TPD and compensation rate as Employee’s requested benefits.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, August 3, 2007).

46) Employee again treated conservatively with injections, medication, physical therapy and massage, which provided some temporary relief.  However, Employee continued to have left shoulder, cervical spine and thoracic spine pain and headaches.  For example, on October 2, 2007, physical therapist Dan Weaver stated treatment provided Employee temporary pain relief but her overall symptoms were unchanged.  On December 6, 2007, Employee again reported her symptoms remained unchanged.  On February 15, 2008, Weaver reported, “There has been no long standing relief from P.T. interventions, however has report short term benefit, requiring less pain meds.”  (Massage Therapy Notes, Abbott, November 1, 2006 - November 7, 2006; Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, December 18, 2006; Chart Note, ARMC, January 11, 2007; Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, January 12, 2007; Healing Touch Intake Interview, January 26, 2007; Chart Note, ARMC, February 14, 2007; Chart Note, ARMC, March 1, 2007; Chart Note, ARMC, April 30, 2007; Chart Note, ARMC, May 11, 2007; Chart Note, ARMC, August 28, 2007; Chart Note, ARMC, September 2, 2007; Physical Therapy Notes, Dan Weaver, September 13, 2007, September 20, 2007, September 25, 2007, October 2, 2007, November 20, 2007, December 6, 2007, January 25, 2008, January 30, 2008, February 13, 2008, February 15, 2008; Chart Note, Unknown Provider, September 13, 2007; Chart Note, Kyle Black, M.D., September 18, 2007; Chart Note, Ellen Kemper, M.D., November 19, 2007; Chart Note, Cope, December 1, 2007).
47) On March 25, 2008, Kyle Black, M.D., treated Employee for left shoulder pain and diagnosed impingement syndrome left shoulder.  He recommended arthroscopy, acromioplasty, and possible rotator cuff repair.  (Chart Note, Dr. Black, March 25, 2008).
48) On March 26, 2008, Dr. Black performed a left shoulder arthroscopy, labral debridement, and acromioplasty.  (Operative Report, Dr. Black, March 26, 2008).
49) On May 29, 2008, Employee reported her left shoulder pain had decreased following the surgery, with a 75 percent improvement in her pain levels.  (Chart Note, Weaver, May 29, 2008).
50) On July 15, 2008, Employee reported she had good range of motion and had no pain or discomfort in her left shoulder.  (Chart Note, Jeffrey Parker, M.D., May 29, 2008).
51) On June 16, 2008, family practitioner and geriatrician Myron Fribush, M.D., treated Employee for right knee pain and diagnosed right knee pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Fribush, June 16, 2008).
52) On June 16, 2008, right knee x-rays showed minimal osteoarthritis.  (Radiologist Report, William Price, M.D., June 16, 2008).
53) On August 22, 2008, a cervical spine MRI revealed: (1) multilevel degenerative disc disease with the most prominent disk protrusion at C4-C5, resulting in mild midline ventral cord impingement without lateralization, a smaller central disk protrusion at C6-7, with cord abutment and only questionable impingement, and a broad, likely calcified subtle disk protrusion at C5-6 that lateralizes to the left, though without distinct cord impingement, and (2) osteophytic neural foraminal stenosis most prominent on the left side at C5-6, with potential impingement on the exiting left C6 nerve root, and lesser neural foraminal stenosis on the right side at C6-7, with potential mild impingement on the right C7 nerve root.  (Radiologist Report, Kevin Voss, M.D., August 22, 2008).
54) On August 26, 2008, a thoracic spine MRI disclosed anterior marginal spurs, as well as bilateral marginal spurs in the lower thoracic region, most marked at the T9-10 disk level.  (Radiologist Report, Michael Walker, M.D., August 26, 2008).
55) On October 27, 2008, a thoracic spine MRI showed disk space loss and posterior disk protrusions, most prominent at T8-9 and T9-10.  These levels showed left paracentral disk protrusions with mild spinal canal stenosis, which is also seen to a lesser extent at T7-8.  (Radiologist Report, David Vanderburgh, M.D., October 27, 2008).
56) On October 27, 2008, a lumbar spine MRI showed multilevel degenerative disk disease and disk protrusions with various degrees of spinal canal and neural foraminal stenosis, most prominent at L3-4 and L4-5.  (Radiologist Report, David Vanderburgh, M.D., October 27, 2008).
57) On February 9, 2009, ARMC treated Employee for increasing mid- and low-back pain and constant neck pain and headaches.  Employee reported it hurt to walk or sit.  (Chart Note, Provider Name Illegible, February 9, 2009).
58) On April 2, 2009, an MRI of the pelvis, sacrum, and coccyx revealed: (1) normal MR appearance of the pelvis, except for incidental spurring of the pubic symphysis, without edema or acute abnormality, (2) intact appearance of the sacrum and coccyx, incidental spurring at the sacrococcygeal junction, but no edema or apparent fracture, and no adjacent inflammatory changes, and (3) degenerative disk disease, spondylosis, and spinal stenosis of the partially included lumbar spine.  (Radiologist Report, Dr. Voss, April 2, 2009).
59) On August 25, 2009, a lumbar spine MRI showed multilevel, multifactorial spinal canal, lateral recess, and neural foraminal stenosis due mostly to degenerative disk disease with multilevel disk protrusions with levels of suspected neural impingement.  (Radiologist Report, Dr. Voss, August 25, 2009).
60) Employee again continued to treat her work injury conservatively, but still continued to experience significant pain in her cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine and left shoulder.  She also continued to have headaches.  For example, on January 15, 2010, physical therapist Weaver reported Employee’s back pain was unrelieved with conservative treatment so far.  On February 3, 2010, Weaver reported Employee was becoming less able to perform functional activities because of her pain.  However, conservative treatment provided some temporary pain relief.  For example, on March 11, 2010, Weaver treated Employee, assessed chronic cervical, thoracic, and lumbar pain with radiculopathy and recommended continued manual therapy to assist Employee in maintaining function and manage pain symptoms.  (Physical Therapy Notes, Weaver, September 2007- March 2011).
61) On May 17, 2010, Dr. Fribush opined Employee’s work injury and progressive spondylosis severely limit her activities and prevent usual employment.  He stated Employee has chronic, disabling pain due to her medical condition which prevents her from accepting full time employment in any capacity.  (Letter from Dr. Fribush, May 17, 2010).

62) On August 23, 2010, neurosurgeon Stephen Houston, M.D., evaluated Employee and recommended C5-C6 and C6-C7 anterior cervical discectomy with fusion.  (Chart Note, Dr. Houston, August 23, 2010).

63) On August 25, 2010, Dr. Houston performed a cervical spine decompression and fusion to prevent progression of Employee’s cervical spinal cord compression.  (Operative Report, Dr. Houston, August 25, 2010; Letter from Dr. Fribush, November 17, 2010; Cervical Spine Radiographs, Stephanie Rufener, M.D., April 5, 2011).

64) On September 10, 2010 an unknown provider treated Employee for left knee pain and assessed left knee pain.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, September 10, 2010).

65) On November 1, 2010, an unknown provider treated Employee for bilateral knee pain.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, November 1, 2010).

66) On November 17, 2010, Dr. Fribush stated despite Employee’s course of medical treatment, including massage, physical therapy, epidural steroid injections, and surgery, Employee’s spine and knee arthritis had continued to progress.  He stated Employee was unable to undertake any prolonged ambulation.  Employee had marked restriction in most physical activity, with even prolonged sitting of fifteen minutes causing discomfort.  He opined Employee was totally disabled from all gainful employment due to the severity of her arthritis.  (Letter from Dr. Fribush, November 17, 2010).

67) On November 18, 2010, a left knee MRI showed: (1) irregular horizontal tear medial meniscus midbody through the posterior horn with displaced flap component midbody displaced into the superior gutter, (2) severe central and posterior weightbearing medial femoral condyle and moderately severe central and poster weightbearing medial tibial plateau chondromalacia, (3) small focus of moderately severe chondromalacia lower medial trochlea, (4) very mild irregular central patellar apex chondromalacia, and (5) large effusion.  (Radiologist Report, Gary Howell, M.D., November 18, 2010).
68) On November 18, 2010, a right knee MRI showed: (1) horizontal tear medial meniscus midbody through the posterior horn, (2) mild to moderate diffuse central weightbearing medial tibial plateau chondromalacia, (3) mild to moderate lateral patellar facet chondromalacia adjacent to the central apex, and (5) small effusion.  (Radiologist Report, Gary Howell, M.D., November 18, 2010).
69) On November 23, 2010, Dr. Fribush treated Employee and assessed bilateral knee meniscal tears, left greater than right and bilateral knee medial joint arthritis, left greater than right.  (Chart Note, Dr. Fribush, November 23, 2010).

70) On December 8, 2010, an unknown provider treated Employee for bilateral knee pain.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, December 8, 2010).

71) At a February 10, 2011 prehearing conference, Employee clarified her April 5, 2007 claim was for TTD, TPD and a compensation rate adjustment.  (Claim, February 10, 2011).
72) On March 25, 2011, Diane Hill, PA-C, treated Employee for headache and back pain.  (Chart Note, Hill, March 25, 2011).

73) On April 5, 2011, orthopedic surgeon Stephen Fuller, M.D., examined Employee for an EIME.  Dr. Fuller’s diagnoses included: (1) preexisting degenerative spondylosis of the cervical spine, (2) preexisting lumbar spondylosis/scoliosis, (3) preexisting thoracic spondylosis, (4) work-related mild muscle strains of cervical, thoracic and lumbar spines, (5) preexisting chronic shoulder pain, particularly on left side attributable to age-related arthritic changes in the left acromioclavicular joint, mild impingement from a curved acromion, and age-related tendinopathy of the superior aspect of the left rotator cuff, (6) bilateral genu varum, resulting in bilateral medial compartment osteoarthritis, worse on the left, and (7) possible contribution to polyarticular arthritis secondary to gout.  Dr. Fuller opined Employee has an objective organic basis for chronic pain in her neck, thoracic and lumbar spine and knees due to long term, age-related arthritis.  He further opined Employee’s September 2006 work event of placing a tray into a cooler caused a “temporary flare of symptoms” but opined her flare up was related to her pre-September 2005 conditions and not her September 2005 work injury.  He stated Employee’s September 2005 work injury did not aggravate her preexisting spondylosis because “she never really presented with the same consistent presentation over the years since 2005.  Also, there is no objective evidence, per imaging studies, that there was any accelerated progression of any pre-existing condition.”  He opined Employee’s September 2005 work injury was medically stable on June 20, 2006, and her September 2006 flare up was medically stable as of November 14, 2006.  He further stated Employee’s 2005 injury “did not provide any ongoing contribution, substantial or otherwise, to her ongoing treatment and/or testing, because all of her pains and aches were much the same as her preinjury pains and aches” and opined these “were attributable to the arthritic spondylosis throughout her spine and/or to age-related conditions in other body parts.”  Employee reported a family history of gout and Dr. Fuller obtained Employee’s agreement she had gout.  He discounted Employee’s statement her gout had disappeared and she had no gout for the last 26 years on the basis her gout was not likely to disappear given her family history.  He stated Employee reporting a work injury in September 2006 “was used as an excuse to keep treating, but in truth . . . her pre-existing, significant spondylosis throughout her spine . . . had caused similar waxing/waning cervicothoracic and shoulder girdle pain for the previous twenty years.”  He also stated Employee, “has tried to blame the 09/20/05 incident and/or 09/11/06 incident as the source of all of her current problems.”  Dr. Fuller highlighted, by italicizing, numerous portions of his report which tended to support Employer’s case, and at times even assumed the role of Employer’s advocate.  For example, with regard to a March 31, 2009 medical record where Employee reported her leg giving out and her falling, Dr. Fuller highlighted his comment, “Of note, this 03/31/09 fall (and similar new events) was much the same as the 09/20/05 fall and yet she had no new pathology on this latter occasion.  She did not blame the new fall for any new symptoms but steadily held onto the 09/20/05 incident as the source of all her problems.”  With regard to an August 5, 2009 medical record where Dr. Fribush signed a short-term disability insurance claim, Dr. Fuller noted Employee had recently been working and highlighted his comment, “It is unclear if [Employee] currently received insurance disability payments while working.”  (Italics in original).  Dr. Fuller opined Employee has no work-related permanent impairment.  (EIME Report, Dr. Fuller, April 5, 2011).
74) On December 13, 2011, Employee saw neurosurgeon John Cleary, M.D., for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  Dr. Cleary’s diagnoses included: (1) history of neck and back straining injuries, related to September 2005 work injury, (2) arthritic condition, likely osteoarthritis but with possible contribution from gouty arthritis, non-work related, (3) probable anxiety tension state with underlying depression, non-work related (4) pain disorder, non-work related (5) headaches, non-work related, (6) neck pain, non-work related, (7) carpal tunnel syndrome, non-work related (8) left shoulder pain, non-work related, (9) mid-back pain, non-work related, (10) low back pain, non-work related, and (11) bilateral medial epicondylitis, non-work related.  Dr. Cleary opined Employee suffered minor straining injuries to her neck and back, related to her September 2005 work injury.  He further opined the September 2005 work injury, “did not cause the disability or accelerate the underlying condition as these conditions were pre-existing.”  He stated Employee’s September 2006 work injury was another straining injury.  However, he also opined Employee’s September 2005 and September 2006 work injuries resulted in nothing more than a minor, temporary aggravation of her preexisting condition, which should have returned to baseline within three months of each injury.  Dr. Cleary opined the cause of Employee’s conditions and symptoms is her preexisting arthritis with contribution from gouty arthritis, an anxiety tension state most likely depression-related, and a pain disorder resulting in part from the anxiety tension state.  Dr. Cleary also opined the cause of Employee’s disability is the non-work related natural progression of severe degenerative disease in her lumbar spine.  Dr. Cleary acknowledged Employee has attempted to return to work on numerous occasions but medical treatment has been unsuccessful in resolving her pain complaints.  Dr. Cleary further opined Employee has no work-related permanent impairment.  (SIME Report, Dr. Cleary, December 13, 2011).
75) On December 12, 2011, Employee saw orthopedic surgeon Sidney Levine, M.D., for an SIME.  Dr. Levine diagnosed: (1) status post left shoulder arthroscopy with subacromial decompression and labral debridement performed on 03/26/08, (2) status post anterior cervical fusion C5-6-7 with anterior plate fixation, 08/25/10, (3) discogenic disease L3-4 and L4-5 per MRI studies 10/27/08 and 10/14/11, and (4) arthritis involving primarily the medial joint line of the right knee.  Dr. Levine stated Employee’s left shoulder, neck, back and bilateral knee conditions and symptoms were related to her September 2005 work injury.  He opined Employee’s September 2006 work injury combined with and was an aggravation of her September 2005 injury.  He stated although Employee had preexisting arthritis, a substantial factor in her disability and need for medical treatment was her September 2005 work injury.  He opined Employee was medically stable as of her April 5, 2011 EIME with Dr. Fuller.  He assessed 33 percent combined value whole person impairment under the Sixth Edition of the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (AMA Guides).  He stated Employee’s conditions and symptoms prevent her from returning to work.  (SIME Report, Dr. Levine, December 12, 2011).
76) On June 26, 2012, Dr. Cleary was deposed and acknowledged tension headaches are not limited to any particular stage in life, explaining it depends on the stress and anxiety a person is under.  However, he also stated because Employee had one headache in 1985 and one in 1992, he believed Employee suffered from tension headaches and consequently opined her current headaches were a preexisting condition and not work related.  He stated Employee’s preexisting headache condition was an intermittent condition which arises whenever “she is under stress and tension.”  Regarding his diagnosis of an anxiety tension state, Dr. Cleary acknowledged he did not make the diagnosis using the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.  He also acknowledged, prior to his diagnosis and conclusion an anxiety tension state was a cause of Employee’s complaints and symptoms, no mention or diagnosis of such a condition existed in the medical records.  (Cleary Deposition, June 26, 2012).

77) On June 26, 2012, Dr. Levine was deposed and explained the force of landing on her left shoulder in her September 2005 fall caused her left shoulder complaints and symptoms.  He opined Employee’s September 2005 work injury caused both Employee’s underlying conditions and her worsening symptoms to become disabling and need medical treatment.  He also opined Employee could only work with significant restrictions, stating:

She would be restricted from carrying out, other than occasional work above shoulder level, would be restricted from keeping her neck in one position for any extended periods of time, or carrying out rapid neck motion or repetitive neck motion, or activities requiring repetitive bending and stooping and pushing and pulling and lifting in excess of 25 pounds.

Dr. Levine does not opine Employee has work restrictions relating to her knees.  His statements on work restrictions relate to Employee’s severe spine and shoulder conditions and symptoms.  He further opined, “based on her multiple complaints and involvement of multiple body parts, I don’t feel she would be able to compete in the open labor market.”  He corrected some typographical errors in his report where he refers to Employee’s right shoulder when he meant left.  He opined Employee needs no further active treatment at the present time, although she may need further medical care in the future depending on the progression of her condition and symptoms.  (Levine Deposition, June 26, 2012).

78) On November 23, 2012, at the board’s request, Dr. Levine submitted a supplemental SIME report, answering a previously-asked question.  In conformance with the Guides, Dr. Levine provided his opinion regarding permanent impairment preexisting Employee’s work injury.  He then offset the permanent impairment rating he documented for preexisting permanent impairment from the rating he provided for permanent impairment resulting from the employment injury.  Dr. Levine provided the whole person net permanent impairment ratings as follows:  2% left knee, 2% left shoulder, 2% lumbar spine, and 15% cervical spine for a 21% combined value whole person impairment.  (Supplemental SIME Report, Dr. Levine, November 23, 2012).

79) Patricia Green met Employee in 1999 and was her supervisor at E. C. Phillips cannery from 2000 to late 2004.  Green described Employee’s seasonal work at the cannery as very physical.  Employee did not miss any work and was able to do required heavy lifting.  Ms. Green saw Employee after September 2005 and described Employee as “broken” and was unable to do what she had been able to do before her September 2005 injury.  Ms. Green is credible.  (Green; observations, judgment).

80) Thomas Mills has known Employee for approximately forty years, since high school.  He subsequently worked with Employee in a shipyard over the years, including ten years in the 1990s as her supervisor.  Employee was a “tough lady” and the work was very physically strenuous, heavy duty work.  Employee did not miss work or complain of any pain during the time he and Employee worked together.  He has seen Employee since her September 2005 work injury and described Employee as “a lot wimpier” and she was struggling to just walk and move around.  Mills had never seen her like that before.  Mills is credible.  (Mills; observations, judgment).

81) Dr. Fuller testified Employee’s cervical spine condition was not work-related and was instead due to her preexisting arthritis and gout which involved every joint in her body; her thoracic spine condition was not work-related because her arthritis did not worsen after the September 2005 work injury and the September 2006 work injury did not involve enough force to cause injury; her lumbar spine condition was not work-related and was instead due to lumbar scoliosis and severe lumbar arthritis; her right knee condition was not work-related and was instead due to her genu varum and gout; her left knee condition was not work-related and was instead due to her congenital bow leg condition; her left shoulder condition was not work-related and was instead a chronic pain condition.  More specifically, with regard to the cervical spine, he stated no subsequent exams indicated significant injury to Employee’s bone, discs or nerves because when saw orthopedic surgeon Dr. Wolf November 1, 2005, Employee had “full range of motion of her cervical spine; she was pain free.”  Dr. Fuller testified this showed there was no disc or bone injury and Employee’s stiffness from the muscle strain had resolved.  He also stated Employee’s 2006 work event of picking up a tray did not injure her cervical spine or otherwise affect her cervical spine condition.  With regard to the thoracic spine, he stated there was no medical evidence of significant trauma such as a broken bone, herniated disc, or pinched nerve attributable to Employee’s September 2005 work injury.  He also stated no physician opined Employee’s arthritis increased in any part of her spine and there is no evidence of increase in Employee’s arthritis after her September 2005 work injury.  With regard to the lumbar spine, Dr. Fuller stated the records do not mention low back pain from mid-October 2006 to June 2006.  Because there was no evidence of significant trauma such as a herniated disc, pinched nerve, or broken bone, Dr. Fuller concluded Employee had a simple muscle strain in September 2005, which disappeared by mid-October.  He attributed Employee’s ongoing low back complaints and symptoms to her preexisting degenerative disc disease.  He opined Employee’s 2006 work event of placing trays in a cooler did not cause injury to her lower back.  With regard to Employee’s right knee, Dr. Fuller opined Employee has moderately severe arthritis.  He stated she had right knee pain in 1984 and a knee injury in November 1994, and then has had right knee pain on occasion since that time.  He also stated she had no “significant trauma” to her knee in September 2005, because she only had tenderness with no other finding, such as a ligament tear.  He stated this does not suggest much of an injury to the knee.  He noted Employee could walk without pain, which showed Employee’s knees were functioning normally.  He also opined Employee’s gout played a substantial part in her knee arthritis.  With regard to Employee’s left knee, he opined her left knee condition resolved after 2005 because she did not have left knee complaints after that time.  He stated there was no evidence of serious injury to the left knee in September 2005, so Employee’s September 2005 work injury was not a substantial factor in Employee’s subsequent arthritis.  He opined trauma can cause acceleration of arthritis but only if a significant traumatic event happens, such as a broken bone or ligament tear.  With regard to the left shoulder, he opined Employee had years of left shoulder pain and there is no evidence she injured her left shoulder at all in September 2005.  He stated the first mention of a left shoulder problem is on October 4, 2005.  He also stated Employee had left shoulder pain on March 23, 2005, when she had pain in her left trapezius region.  However, he also testified trapezius pain is referred pain from the cervical area, not from the shoulder and stated Employee’s left shoulder pain is chronic pain radiating from the cervical spine.  He stated Employee has a hooked acromion and the October 12, 2005 MRI findings were typical of a person who has a hooked acromion.  He opined Employee’s 2005 injury was not a substantial factor in her left shoulder condition because there is no evidence of acute injury to the left shoulder and her left shoulder arthritis and hooked acromion conditions caused her need for left shoulder medical treatment and preexisted her September 2005 work injury.  Dr. Fuller disagreed Employee’s symptoms increased after her September 2005 work injury because she had Toradol injections on a regular basis, but also acknowledged the injections were prescribed for Employee’s costochondritis.  He stated Dr. Levine was not aware Employee had gout which would explain all of her symptoms and Dr. Levine did not include any of preexisting conditions in his final analysis.  On cross-examination, Dr. Fuller explained the basis of his gout diagnosis was a 1979 record and Employee’s agreement at his examination she had gout, in addition to documentation of costochondritis.  He agreed there is no mention of gout in any of Employee’s medical records other than the one record in 1979.  He also agreed no doctor performed any range of motion measurements before September 2005, when Employee saw Dr. Wolf in November 2005, she had full range of motion, but when she saw Dr. Brigham in June 2006, she had some reduced range of motion.  He also agreed Employee had neck discomfort at her November 1, 2005 range of motion examination.  Dr. Fuller agreed Employee’s cervical and thoracic MRIs showed changes in Employee’s cervical and thoracic spine conditions but opined these changes are just the natural progression of Employee’s arthritis.  He clarified his prior opinion there were no changes meant there were no new traumatic changes.  He agreed each MRI showed a slight progression of Employee’s arthritis and agreed Employee’s 2008 cervical spine MRI was done because Employee’s pain was progressive and disabling.  (Fuller).

82) Employee had a significant acceleration and worsening of her osteoarthritis because of her September 2005 work injury.  This worsening, and specifically the worsening of Employee’s cervical spine condition and symptoms including increased pain, is a significant factor in Employee’s headaches.  Employee was an exceptional patient who did all she could to get better and her goal was to return to her pre-injury condition and level of functioning.  Dr. Fribush compared Employee’s pre-injury and post-injury MRIs and noted the significant increase in degenerative disc disease.  He attributed this acceleration to Employee’s September 2005 work injury.  He also opined Employee was not employable due to the effects of her September 2005 work injury.  (Fribush).

83) Employee for the majority of her life has performed heavy physical labor.  Prior to her September 2005 work injury, the only time she had significant time off work was for a fractured ankle in 1983.  Employee began working on the ferry system in 2002.  Employee had to obtain physicals before she could work on the ferry.  Prior to September 2005, Employee always passed the physical for any job for which she applied.  After her 2005 work injury, Employee cared for her mother, who was a stroke victim, on a limited basis but this work did not involve heavy lifting.  It involved assisting with oxygen and other light duty work.  Others came in to assist with the heavy lifting work involved in caring for her mother, such as assisting with showers.  Cornerstone Health paid for Employee’s services during this time.  Employee performed this work from 2007 to February 2010.  Employee could not work at all from February 2010 forward because of her worsening condition and symptoms.  Employee credibly testified that since her September 2005 work injury, her lower back pain has become unbearable, like a knife sticking into her back constantly.  It is unlike any pain symptoms she had before the work injury.  Employee stated to step to the side is painful, to sit or lay in bed is very hard, and when she has to go to the bathroom, the pain is excruciating.  Her whole life changed with her September 2005 fall and has never been the same.  (Wolfe).

84) Before her September 2005 work injury, Employee experienced only mild, intermittent symptoms relating to the body parts at issue in this case.  These intermittent symptoms necessitated little medical treatment.  After her September 2005 work injury, Employee’s back and left shoulder conditions and symptoms significantly worsened and her September 2005 work injury was a substantial factor in these worsening conditions, symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment.  Employee’s September 2005 work injury was also a substantial factor in her ongoing need for headache medical treatment.  (Record; experience, judgment observations and inferences drawn from all the above).

85) Although the combined effects of Employee’s September 2005 work injury and her September 2006 work aggravation  played “a” role in her disability and need for medical treatment, and though the “combined effects” of the two injuries are likely substantially greater than the minor strain she would likely have had in 2006 absent preexisting conditions, Employee’s September 2006 aggravation or combination is not a substantial factor nor the substantial cause in Employee’s ongoing disability and need for medical treatment.  (Record; experience, judgment observations and inferences drawn from all the above).

86) Headaches are often associated with sinus issues, involving infections, which are distinctly different from headaches related to trauma.  That pain, stress and tension cause headaches is not a particularly complex medical issue, is fairly common knowledge, and is something which can be inferred from experience, judgment, and observations.  (Experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all the above).
87) No medical record since 1979 mentions gout as a possible diagnosis and the uric acid workup needed in follow up to the 1979 gout suggestion was never done.  Based on this evidence, Employee does not now have gout and the preponderance of the medical evidence shows she never had gout.  However, even if Employee had gout in 1979, Employee’s gout resolved soon after 1979 as evidenced by Employee’s statement her gout disappeared and the lack of any diagnosis or even mention of gout after 1979. (Record; Experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all the above).

88) Dr. Cleary and Dr. Fuller are not credible.  (Experience, judgment, observations).
89) Employee, Mills, Green, Dr. Fribush and Dr. Levine are credible.  (Id.).
90) Mr. Croft submitted five attorney’s fee affidavits.  The first itemized 99.5 hours of attorney time at rates of $350.00 and $400.00 per hour and 69.7 hours of paralegal time at rates of $150.00 and $160.00 per hour, for a total of $50,512.00 in fees.  He filed an itemization of costs totaling $4,701.50.  A supplemental fees and costs affidavit itemized an additional 41 hours of attorney time and 15.6 hours of paralegal time, at rates of $400.00 and $160.00 per hour respectively, for a total of $18,896.00 in fees.  He filed an itemization of additional costs totaling $1,786.15.  The second supplemental affidavit itemized an additional 6.7 hours of attorney time at $400.00 per hour and 3.8 hours of paralegal time at $160.00 per hour for a total of $3,288.00 in additional fees.  A third supplemental affidavit itemized an additional 23 hours of attorney time at $400.00 per hour and 14.5 hours of paralegal time at $160.00 per hour for a total of $11,520.00 in additional fees.  A fourth supplemental affidavit itemized an additional .5 hours of paralegal time at $160.00 per hour and $1,903.71 in additional costs.  Total attorney’s fees and costs equal $92,687.36.  
91) Employer objected to Employee’s attorney fees request, contending Employee is only entitled to an award of fees for services performed with respect to issues on which she prevails, Employee should not be entitled to an award of fees for services performed on claims withdrawn prior to hearing, and fees should be reduced for any claims on which Employee prevailed but only in part.  For example, Employer contends if Employee is awarded a lesser amount of disability or PPI than requested, any award of attorney’s fees should be reduced.  Employer did not otherwise object to Employee’s attorney’s hourly rate, hours or costs.  (Employer’s Hearing Brief at 14-15, September 5, 2012;   Employer’s Opposition to Employee’s Attorney Fees, October 1, 2012).

92) The requested hourly rates and itemized hours for Employee’s attorney’s fees and costs are reasonable.  The primary issue in this case was whether Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment is compensable.  Employee was successful on this main issue.  Employee requested medical benefits and related transportation costs, TPD, additional TTD, PPI, a determination she has work-related PPI and is unable to return to work because of her work injury for reemployment benefits purposes, a compensation rate adjustment and attorney’s fees and costs.  Employer vigorously disputed Employee was entitled to any of these benefits and Employee will be awarded these benefits in this decision.  Employee prevailed on the primary issues in her case.  To the extent Employee was not awarded the full amount of each type of benefit she requested, the time spent on the unsuccessful portions of her claims was minimal.  The attorney’s fees affidavits do not reflect any misapplied time.  The affidavits reflect the time expended developing the case would be the same, whether or not the unsuccessful portions of her claims had been prosecuted.  (Affidavit of Fees, July 27, 2012; Employee’s First Supplemental Affidavit of Fees, September 7, 2012; Employee’s Second Supplemental Affidavit of Fees as of 12:00 P.M. 09/10/12, September 11, 2012, Employee’s Third Supplemental Affidavit of Fees as of 12:00 P.M. 09/12/12, September 14, 2012; Employee’s Fourth and Final Supplemental Affidavit of Fees, September 24, 2012; Employer’s Opposition to Employee’s Attorney Fees, October 1, 2012; record; experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all the above).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary.  That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable.”  Id. at 534.

At the time of Employee’s September 2005 injury, the Act provided:

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.  Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.

AS 23.30.041.  Rehabilitation and reemployment of injured workers. . . . 

. . .

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if

. . . 

[image: image1]
(3) at the time of medical stability, no permanent impairment is identified or expected.

AS 23.30.095. Medical examinations. (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . . It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . .

An injured worker is entitled to a prospective determination of whether the injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.105. Time for filing of claims.  (a) The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement.  However…a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of benefits under 
AS 23.30.041, 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215. . . .

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions. (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . .

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute, including medical benefits.  Carter, 818 P.2d at 665; Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279; Moretz v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991). 

The presumption involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or her injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  If the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome when the employer presents substantial evidence the injury was not work-related.  Id. at 611.  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability with an expert opinion the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Gillispie v. B&B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1110 (Alaska 1994).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility is not examined at this point.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-70 (Alaska 1985).  If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, the presumption of compensability drops out and the employee must prove his or her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  This means the employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the board members the facts being asserted are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  At this point, the board weighs the evidence, determines what inferences to draw from the evidence, and considers credibility.

For work injuries occurring prior to the November 7, 2005 effective date of the 2005 amendments to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, a work injury is compensable where the employment is “a substantial factor” in bringing about the disability or need for medical care. Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590, 597-98 (Alaska 1979).  A work injury is a substantial factor in bringing about the disability or need for medical care if the claimant would not have suffered disability at the same time, in the same way, or to the same degree but for the work injury.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 532-33 (Alaska 1987).  There can be more than one substantial factor for purposes of determining whether an injury is compensable.  Carter v. B&B Construction, Inc., 199 P.3d 1150 (Alaska 2008).

For injuries occurring after the 2005 amendments to the Act, if the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome at the second stage when the employer presents substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 7 (March 25, 2011).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility of the parties and witnesses is not examined at the second stage.  See, e.g., Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-70 (Alaska 1985).  If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, the presumption of compensability drops out and the employee must prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that in relation to other causes, employment was “the substantial cause” of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom at 8. 

A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the disability from which compensation is sought.  Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 1988 (Alaska 1970).  The question whether employment aggravated or accelerated a preexisting disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the board.  Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).  Aggravation of a preexisting condition may be found absent any specific traumatic event.  Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d at 534.  To prove a work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition, the claimant need only prove that “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at the time he did, in the way he did, or to the degree he did.  In other words, under the “old law,” to satisfy the “but for” test, the claimant need only prove that the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor in the resulting disability. Thurston v. Guys with Tools, Ltd. 217 P.3d 824, 828 (Alaska 2009), citing Rogers & Babler at 533.  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment.  

When determining whether an underlying disease has been aggravated by a work injury, there is no distinction between worsening of the underlying disease process and worsening of the symptoms. Hester v. State, Public Employees' Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 at n.7 (Alaska 1991); DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000).  When a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an “aggravation” -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition. DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).  The board has the sole discretion to determine the weight of the medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 087 at 11 (Aug. 25, 2008).

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney Fees. (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded.  When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded.  In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc., 160 P.3d at 150-51.  Subsection .145(b) requires an award of attorney’s fees to be reasonable.  

In workers’ compensation cases, “the objective is to make attorney fee awards both fully compensatory and reasonable so that competent counsel will be available to furnish legal services to injured workers.”  Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 973 (Alaska 1986).  In Judith Lewis-Walunga and William J. Soule v. Municipality of Anchorage, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 123 (December 28, 2009), the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission stated:

The commission recognizes that promoting the availability of counsel for injured workers is a legitimate legislative goal of the attorney fee statute.  This goal is served in the current statute by provision of a statutory minimum fee that may result in disproportionate fees in some cases, a mandate to examine the complexity of services provided, and a barring of most fee awards against injured workers when the employer prevails.  Thus, a small value claim that involves a novel application of the law or an injured worker’s claim that succeeds against heavy opposition, may result in fee awards that recognize the particular complexity or difficulty of the case.

…

The legislature’s choice represents a balance between assuring the injured worker access to representation and freedom to file claims without fear of financial consequences on one hand and avoiding unnecessary litigation of doubtful claims and unreasonable costs to the public and employers on the other.  The commission will not disturb the balance struck by the legislature.

Id. at 13-15.

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.190. Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  (a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.  The percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under 

(b) of this section. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041, but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations.

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, except that an impairment rating may not be rounded to the next five percent.  The board shall adopt a supplementary recognized schedule for injuries that cannot be rated by use of the American Medical Association Guides.

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.  If the combination of a prior impairment rating and a rating under (a) of this section would result in the employee being considered permanently totally disabled, the prior rating does not negate a finding of permanent total disability.

(d) When a new edition of the American Medical Association Guides described in (b) of this section is published, the board shall, not later than 90 days after the last day of the month in which the new edition is published, hold an open meeting under AS 44.62.310 to select the date on which the new edition will be used to make all determinations required under (b) of this section.  The date selected by the board for using the new edition may not be later than 90 days after the last day of the month in which the new edition is published.  After the meeting, the board shall issue a public notice announcing the date selected.  The requirements of 
AS 44.62.010 - 44.62.300 do not apply to the selection or announcement of the date under this subsection.

AS 23.30.200. Temporary partial disability.  (a) In case of temporary partial disability resulting in decrease of earning capacity the compensation shall be 80 percent of the difference between the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages before the injury and the wage-earning capacity of the employee after the injury in the same or another employment, to be paid during the continuance of the disability, but not to be paid for more than five years.  Temporary partial disability benefits may not be paid for a period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

(b) The wage-earning capacity of an injured employee is determined by the actual spendable weekly wage of the employee if the actual spendable weekly wage fairly and reasonably represents the wage-earning capacity of the employee.  The board may, in the interest of justice, fix the wage-earning capacity that is reasonable, having due regard to the nature of the injury, the degree of physical impairment, the usual employment, and other factors or circumstances in the case that may affect the capacity of the employee to earn wages in a disabled condition, including the effect of disability as it may naturally extend into the future. 

AS 23.30.220. Determination of spendable weekly wage.  (a) Computation of compensation under this chapter shall be on the basis of an employee’s spendable weekly wage at the time of injury. . . .
Although the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act does not specify which injury in a series of injuries should be the basis for the rate calculation, the injury used for this purpose must, at a minimum, be a legal cause of the disability.  Wells v. Swalling Const. Co., Inc., 994 P.2d 34, 37-38 (Alaska 1997).  This conclusion is supported by the Act’s definition of “disability” as incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.  Furthermore, there would be no reason to assign such importance to the date of an injury that was not a legal cause of the compensable disability.  Id. at 38.
AS 23.30.395. Definitions.  In this chapter

. . .

(10) “disability” means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment;

. . .

(21) “medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence. . . .

8 AAC 45.050. Pleadings. (a) A person may start a proceeding before the board by filing a written claim or petition.

. . .

(e) Amendments. A pleading may be amended at any time before award upon such terms as the board or its designee directs.  If the amendment arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out . . .in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading. . . .

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.  

. . .

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.  If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.

 
(c) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an attorney fee may not be collected from an applicant without board approval.  A request for approval of a fee to be paid by an applicant must be supported by an affidavit showing the extent and character of the legal services performed. . . . 


(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.


(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under 
AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section.


(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim…

Department of Labor and Workforce Development Bulletin No. 08-02, Adoption of American Medical Association’s Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Sixth Edition.  

A new edition of the American Medical Association’s Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment was published in December 2007.  At an open meeting, as required by AS 23.30.190(d), the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board selected a date upon which the new Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Sixth Edition must be used.  Effective March 31, 2008 all permanent partial impairment determinations and ratings under AS 23.30.190(b) must be done using the American Medical Association’s Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Sixth Edition.

ANALYSIS

1)  Is Employee entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment and related transportation costs for her back, left shoulder, knees, and headaches?

The parties dispute whether Employee’s need for back, left shoulder, knees, and headache medical treatment is work-related.  More specifically, the parties disagree whether Employee’s September 2005 work injury was a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment.  Employee had preexisting, symptomatic medical conditions before her work with Employer.  A preexisting condition does not disqualify a claim if employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the condition to produce the disability for which compensation is sought.  See Thornton, 411 P.2d at 210; Burgess, 623 P.2d at 317.

A) Did Employee have a preexisting headache condition?

The parties dispute whether Employee had a preexisting headache condition.  This is a factual issue to which the presumption analysis applies.  Without regard to credibility, Employee attached the presumption to her claim she did not have a preexisting headache “condition,” with Dr. Fribush’s opinion Employee did not have a headache condition preexisting her September 2005 work injury.  He opined Employee’s cervical spine condition and symptoms, including increased pain, caused Employee’s post-2005-injury headaches.  Dr. Fribush’s opinion causes the presumption to attach to this issue.  Without regard to credibility, Employer rebutted the presumption with Dr. Cleary’s opinion Employee had headaches prior to her September 2005 work injury and therefore had a preexisting headache “condition.”  This evidence is sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability and causes it to drop out.  Employee must prove by a preponderance of the evidence she did not have a headache condition which preexisted her September 2005 work injury.

Dr. Cleary opined because Employee sought treatment for a headache a few times in the approximately twenty years prior to her September 2005 work injury and reported having tension headaches in the past from time to time, Employee suffered from a “tension headache condition,” which preexisted her 2005 work injury.  He opined headaches suffered after her September 2005 work injury were consequently not work related.

In 1985, Employee was treated for “headaches in the back of her neck” and the diagnosis was “headaches.”  Six years later in 1991, Employee was treated for headache and sinus pressure and was diagnosed with sinusitis.  In 1992, Employee reported getting a tension headache and having sinus pain.  The provider diagnosed sinusitis.  Ten years later in 2002, Employee was again diagnosed with sinusitis.  Experience shows headaches are often associated with sinus issues, involving infections, which are distinctly different from headaches related to trauma.
Dr. Cleary acknowledged headaches are an intermittent condition and said Employee’s preexisting condition arose whenever “she is under stress and tension.”  That pain, stress and tension cause headaches is not a particularly complex medical issue, is fairly common knowledge, and is something which can be inferred from experience, judgment, and observations.  Dr. Fribush credibly testified Employee’s cervical spine condition and symptoms, including increased pain, caused Employee’s headaches.
Dr. Fribush’s opinion on this issue is supported by the record.  The medical records demonstrate all of Employee’s headaches, except one in 1985 diagnosed as simply “headaches,” were diagnosed as sinusitis.  No other physician diagnosed Employee with a preexisting headache “condition.”  Dr. Cleary’s medical opinion Employee had a preexisting headache “condition,” as if it were a chronic, regular occurrence because she reported having “tension headaches” in the past from time to time, which included a headache in 1985 and three subsequent headaches diagnosed in the medical record as sinusitis, is not supported by the medical evidence.  The reasons Dr. Cleary gives for his headache opinion lack support in the medical record and in basic common knowledge and sense.  This lack of support is to such a degree that his credibility is significant undermined.  Dr. Cleary’s testimony resembled that of an advocate choosing arguments for a preconceived result, not an objective expert.  Consequently, the board gives very little weight to Dr. Cleary’s opinions on all issues in this case because he is not a credible witness.  The weight and preponderance of evidence shows Employee did not have a preexisting headache “condition.”  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence she did not have a headache “condition” preexisting her September 2005 work injury.
B) Did Employee’s September 2005 work injury aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting back, left shoulder, and knee conditions and symptoms?

There are factual disputes, so the presumption of compensability also applies to this issue.  Without regard to credibility, Employee attached the presumption of compensability to her claim her employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with these preexisting conditions, with Drs. Fribush and Levine’s opinions her September 2005 work injury aggravated, accelerated and combined with her preexisting back, left shoulder, and knee conditions.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim.

Employer rebutted the presumption with Dr. Fuller’s opinion, which said Employee’s September 2005 work injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting back, left shoulder, and knee conditions and instead attributed Employee’s worsening condition and symptoms to the natural progression of her underlying arthritis.  Drs. Fuller’s opinion standing alone is substantial evidence rebutting the presumption, because its rules out Employee’s employment as a cause of Employee’s worsening complaints and symptoms, including worsening pain.

Employee must prove her claim employment with Employer aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting conditions by a preponderance of the evidence.  Drs. Fribush, Levine, and Brigham all opined Employee’s 2005 work injury aggravated her preexisting conditions, although Dr. Brigham only addressed Employee’s cervical spine and left shoulder and stated the aggravation was “temporary.”  

Dr. Fuller opined Employee’s September 2005 work injury did not aggravate her preexisting spondylosis in her spine because, “she never really presented with the same consistent presentation over the years since 2005.”  He further stated: “There is no objective evidence, per imaging studies, that there was any accelerated progression of any preexisting condition.”  Dr. Fuller said no physician opined Employee’s arthritis increased in any part of her spine, and there is no evidence of increase in Employee’s arthritis after her September 2005 work injury.  Dr. Fuller based his opinions on lack of “significant trauma” to Employee when she fell in September 2005.  Dr. Fuller disagreed with the emergency room doctor’s diagnoses of “sprains” and opined Employee suffered only simple muscle “strains.”  He stated Employee did not suffer a herniated disc, pinched nerve, ligament tear or broken bone, further showing lack of significant trauma.  He stated there is no evidence Employee injured her left shoulder at all in September 2005 and the first mention of a left shoulder problem is on October 4, 2005.  He also based his opinion on his understanding Employee has gout, had right knee pain in 1984 and 1994 and has had right knee pain on occasion since that time.  He stated Employee treated “years and years” with Motrin for left shoulder pain.  Dr. Fuller also disagreed Employee’s symptoms increased after her September 2005 work injury because she had Toradol injections on a regular basis.  He stated Employee’s cervical spine had full range of motion on November 1, 2005, and she was “pain free.”

Dr. Fuller’s opinion is based on a misunderstanding of Employee’s complaints, symptoms, treatment, and medical records.  Therefore, less weight is accorded his opinions.  AS 23.30.122.  For example, Dr. Fuller stated Employee had right knee pain in 1984 and 1994 and has had right knee pain on occasion since that time.  Employee sought treatment for right knee pain once in 1994 following a fall and three times in 1995 for continuing pain following the fall.  She did not have “ongoing” right knee pain following her November 1994 fall.  This exaggeration further weakens Dr. Fuller’s opinion.  

Dr. Fuller stated there is no evidence Employee injured her left shoulder at all in September 2005 and the first mention of a left shoulder problem is on October 4, 2005.  This too is incorrect.  On September 23, 2005, Employee reported hurting all over, including across her shoulders.  On September 26, 2005, Employee reported shoulder pain, and limited range of motion and edema were noted in Employee’s left shoulder.  On September 28, 2005, edema was again noted over Employee’s left shoulder.  Dr. Fuller also disagreed Employee’s symptoms increased after her September 2005 work injury because she had Toradol injections on a regular basis prior to her work injury.  However, at hearing he acknowledged the injections were prescribed for Employee’s ongoing costochondritis.  

Dr. Fuller’s statement Employee’s cervical spine condition was resolved because she had full range of motion and was “pain free” by November 1, 2005 is also incorrect.  The records show, and Dr. Fuller later acknowledged, Employee still had discomfort in November 2005.  Contrary to Dr. Fuller’s assertions, Employee did not have waxing and waning pain for the previous 20 years.  She had a few, intermittent episodes of pain which took place primarily in the 1980s and 1990s.  Employee’s conditions, symptoms and need for medical treatment after her 2005 work injury were very different from her pre-injury conditions, symptoms and need for medical treatment.  These errors further weaken Dr. Fuller’s opinion.  AS 23.30.122.  
Prior to her 2005 work injury, Employee sought intermittent medical treatment of some body parts not uncommon for a person working in jobs involving heavy work.  Employee’s conditions, symptoms and need for medical treatment after her 2005 work injury were very different from her pre-injury conditions, symptoms and need for medical treatment.  Employee’s underlying conditions and symptoms worsened because of her September 2005 work injury.  Drs. Fribush and Levine both stated although Employee’s had preexisting conditions including arthritis, Employee’s underlying conditions worsened after her September 2005 work injury when they became progressive, disabling, and needed significant medical treatment.  They also said the worsening was caused in substantial part by Employee’s September 2005 fall.  Dr. Fuller initially disagreed Employee’s condition and symptoms worsened after her work injury.  However, he acknowledged at hearing Employee’s MRIs showed deterioration in her condition, and agreed her October 27, 2008 thoracic spine MRI was performed for pain which was “progressive and disabling.”  Dr. Fuller later clarified he meant any progressive changes were due to the natural progression of Employee’s arthritis and not her September 2005 work injury.  
With regard to Dr. Fuller’s opinion of lack of significant trauma, greater weight is given to emergency room physician Dr. Richey’s opinion Employee suffered sprains to multiple body parts when she fell in September 2005.  AS 23.30.122.  Dr. Richey was the first physician to examine Employee after her fall and thus closest in time to her work injury.  His opinion, in conjunction with medical records, Employee’s credible hearing testimony and the credible opinions of Green, Mills and Drs. Fribush and Levine, show Employee suffered a severe, traumatic fall onto a steel floor.  Even EIME physician Dr. Brigham agreed Employee experienced a traumatic injury, opining she suffered work-related sprains in her fall of September 2005.  This fall caused significant trauma to multiple parts of her body, including both sprains and acute strains.  Dr. Fuller’s opinion there was no significant trauma to Employee’s relevant body parts when she fell in September 2005 is incorrect and outweighed by contrary opinions of multiple, competent medical experts.  To the extent his ultimate opinions are based on this mistaken fact, they are given very little weight.  AS 23.30.122.  Further, aggravation of a preexisting condition may be found absent any specific traumatic event.  Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d at 534.  Dr. Fuller’s misunderstanding of Employee’s presentation over the years, and his misunderstanding of Employee’s complaints, symptoms, treatment, and medical records, lessens the weight of his opinion Employee’s September 2005 work injury did not aggravate her preexisting conditions.  
Additionally, Dr. Fuller stated Employee reporting a work injury in September 2006 “was used as an excuse to keep treating, but in truth . . . her pre-existing, significant spondylosis throughout her spine . . . had caused similar waxing/waning cervicothoracic and shoulder girdle pain for the previous twenty years.”  He also stated Employee, “has tried to blame the 09/20/05 incident and/or 09/11/06 incident as the source of all of her current problems” and in his report repeatedly highlighted, by italicizing, numerous portions of his report which tended to support Employer’s case, and at times even assumed the role of Employer’s advocate.  For example, with regard to a March 31, 2009 medical record where Employee reported her leg giving out and falling, Dr. Fuller italicized his statement, “Of note, this 03/31/09 fall (and similar new events) was much the same as the 09/20/05 fall and yet she had no new pathology on this latter occasion.  She did not blame the new fall for any new symptoms but steadily held onto the 09/20/05 incident as the source of all her problems.”  With regard to an August 5, 2009 medical record where Dr. Fribush signed a short-term disability insurance claim, Dr. Fuller noted Employee had recently been working and highlighted his statement, “It is unclear if [Employee] currently received insurance disability payments while working.”  (Italics in original).  Dr. Fuller’s statement Employee’s reporting of a second work injury “was used as an excuse to keep treating” has no support in the medical record.  His statements often failed to honor the line between being an opinion witness and advocating from the witness chair.  Although some of the highlighted statements properly brought attention to important facts, the majority of Dr. Fuller’s highlighted statements have a distinctive touch of advocacy.  This greatly undermines his credibility in this case.  As a result, Dr. Fuller’s opinions are given very little weight.  
AS 23.30.122.

Dr. Fuller opined Employee has gout.  Other than a note on an August 22, 1979 unknown provider’s medical record where Employee was assessed with “gouty arthritis,” and some providers’ reliance on that statement to support their conclusions, there is no mention or diagnosis of gout in Employee’s medical records.  The 1979 record states Employee needed a uric acid workup but this test was not done and there is no evidence Employee has ever had a uric acid workup.  Dr. Fuller based his diagnosis of gout in part on Employee’s reporting a family history of gout and Dr. Fuller obtaining from Employee her agreement at his examination she had gout.  Thus, when Employee’s reporting supported his theory, Dr. Fuller relied upon it to support his conclusions.  But, he discounted Employee’s statement her gout disappeared and she had no gout for the last 26 years on the basis gout was not likely to disappear given a family history of gout.  Dr. Fuller’s reliance on a statement he elicited from Employee “agreeing” she had gout in the past but discounting Employee’s statement she no longer has gout has a distinctive touch of advocacy, again undermines his credibility in this case, and Dr. Fuller’s statements are again given very little weight.  AS 23.30.122.  Based on the medical evidence, Employee does not now have gout and likely never has had it.  However, even if Employee had gout in 1979, Employee’s gout resolved soon after 1979 as evidenced by Employee’s statement her gout disappeared and the lack of any diagnosis or even mention of gout after 1979.

For the reasons set forth above in paragraph A, Dr. Cleary is not credible and his opinion is given very little weight in this case.  However, even if Dr. Cleary had been found credible, this decision would give his opinions less weight because like Dr. Fuller’s opinions, they are based on a misunderstanding of Employee’s complaints, symptoms, and medical records.  Dr. Cleary based his opinion on his misunderstanding Employee suffered only minor straining injuries to her neck and back in September 2005.   He also based his opinion on his misunderstanding Employee has gout, an anxiety tension state, and a pain disorder related to the anxiety tension state.  Dr. Cleary acknowledged he did not diagnose anxiety tension state using the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.  He also acknowledged no mention or diagnosis of such a condition existed in the medical records prior to his diagnosis and conclusion an anxiety tension state was a cause of Employee’s complaints and symptoms.  The preponderance of the evidence shows Employee does not have an anxiety tension state.

Drs. Fribush and Levine agreed with Dr. Brigham that Employee’s September 2005 work injury aggravated her preexisting conditions.  Drs. Fribush and Levine opined Employee had a worsening of both her underlying condition, and increased pain following her September 2005 work injury and their opinions are supported by the medical evidence.  Prior to her September 2005 work injury, Employee sought treatment irregularly with no significant periods of disability or medical treatment, other than for an ankle fracture in 1983.  After the 2005 work injury, Employee had significant periods of disability and consistently needed considerable medical care.  Employee and her lay witnesses credibly testified before her September 2005 work injury, she functioned at a very high level with no complaints or time off work, even while performing years of heavy duty work.  After her 2005 work injury, Employee was suddenly a “shell” of her former self and as Green and Mills credibly testified, struggled just to move around and was unable to do what she could prior to her work injury.  Though these lay observations could conceivably arise from natural progression of Employee’s preexisting conditions, this testimony, in conjunction with Drs. Fribush and Levine’s persuasive testimony further supported by Dr. Brigham’s opinion of aggravation, is the testimony given greatest weight on this issue. 
AS 23.30.122.  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence her September 2005 work injury aggravated her preexisting back, left shoulder and bilateral knee conditions and symptoms.

C) Was Employee’s September 20, 2005 work injury or aggravation, acceleration or combination a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment for her spine, left shoulder, knees, and headaches?

There are factual disputes, so the presumption of compensability also applies to this issue.  Without regard to credibility, Employee attached the presumption with Dr. Fribush’s opinion Employee’s September 2005 work injury was a substantial factor in her need for medical care for her spine, left shoulder, knees, and headaches. 

i) Need for medical treatment for Employee’s spine, left shoulder, and headaches.


Drs. Fuller, Cleary, and Brigham opine Employee’s September 2005 work injury is not a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment for these conditions.  They state the natural progression of Employee’s preexisting conditions, primarily arthritis, is the cause of Employee’s worsening symptoms and need for medical treatment.  Without regard to credibility, Drs. Fuller, Cleary and Brigham’s opinions standing alone are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption because they rule out Employee’s employment as a cause of Employee’s complaints and symptoms, including worsening pain.  Their reports also provide an alternative explanation for Employee’s symptoms.

Once Employer rebuts the presumption of compensability, Employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  As for Employee’s spine, left shoulder, and headaches, Dr. Fribush and Dr. Levine credibly testified Employee’s traumatic fall significantly worsened Employee’s underlying conditions and symptoms.  This worsening caused Employee’s subsequent disability and need for significant medical care.  Dr. Fribush also credibly testified Employee’s cervical spine condition and symptoms, including increased pain, caused Employee’s headaches.  Dr. Levine explained the mechanism of injury was sufficient to cause Employee’s worsening conditions and symptoms.  AS 23.30.122.

Lay witnesses Green and Mills credibly testified Employee’s condition significantly deteriorated after her September 2005 work injury.  Whereas prior to the work injury Employee functioned at a very high level for years while performing heavy duty work with no complaints or more than two days’ time off work, after her September 2005 work injury, Employee struggled with day to day activities and was unable to do what she could prior to her work injury.  AS 23.30.122.

Although the medical record evidences some medical treatment involving the body parts at issue in this case prior to her September 2005 work injury, her treatment was insignificant, intermittent and occurred primarily ten to twenty years prior to her 2005 injury.  For example, Employee sought medical care for cervical pain six times in the 1980s and once in March 2005 when she strained her trapezius.  She sought thoracic spine care once in 1984 and once in 1986.  She sought care for lumbar pain twice in the 1980s, three times in the 1990s and once in April 2004, when she strained her low back lifting a suitcase.  Other “back pain” references in the record appear associated with urinary tract issues, bronchitis or costochondritis.  Employee sought treatment for left shoulder pain twice, once in 1986 and once in 1996.  As discussed above, Employee’s treatment for headaches has also been irregular and insignificant.
As set forth above in paragraph B, Dr. Fuller’s opinion was based on a misunderstanding of Employee’s complaints, symptoms, treatment, and medical records and is given very little weight.  
AS 23.30.122.  Dr. Cleary lacks credibility and his statements are given the least weight.  
AS 23.30.122.  Even if Dr. Cleary had been found to be credible, this decision would still give his opinions less weight because like Dr. Fuller’s opinions, they are based on a misunderstanding of Employee’s complaints, symptoms, and medical records.  Dr. Cleary mistakenly understood Employee suffered only minor strains as a result of her September 2005 work injury.  Dr. Richey’s opinion Employee suffered sprains and acute strains when she fell, in conjunction with the medical records, Green, Mills and Employee’s credible hearing testimony and the credible opinions of Drs. Fribush and Levine, show Employee suffered a severe, traumatic fall onto a steel floor.  Even EIME physician Dr. Brigham agreed Employee suffered significant injury, opining she suffered sprains in addition to strains when she fell.  Dr. Fuller’s statement Employee suffered only minor strains as a result of her September 2005 work injury which soon resolved is not consistent with the history and facts of the case.  Employee functioned at a high level before the work injury, worked for years in heavy duty work without significant disability or need for significant medical care, and has suffered severe, progressive and disabling pain and worsening of her underlying conditions since the 2005 work injury.  Dr. Brigham does not provide any analysis why Employee’s September 2005 fall is not a substantial factor in her disability or need for medical treatment despite his opinion Employee sprained multiple body parts when she fell.  He merely states her conditions “are all just natural progression.”  His opinion in this regard is conclusory and given less weight than those of Drs. Fribush and Levine on the issue of whether Employee’s September 2005 work injury is a substantial factor in Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment.  AS 23.30.122.

Drs. Fribush and Levine’s opinions are given the most weight.  AS 23.30.122.  They both acknowledged Employee had significant conditions, which preexisted her September 2005 work injury.  Dr. Levine even attributed a substantial amount of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment to these preexisting conditions.  However, Drs. Fribush and Levine opine Employee’s September 2005 work injury was also “a substantial factor” in her disability and need for medical care.  They opine her 2005 work injury aggravated both her underlying conditions and her symptoms and accelerated the deterioration of her conditions and worsening of her symptoms.  

There is clearly disagreement among the physicians regarding whether Employee’s September 2005 work injury was a substantial factor in her disability and need for medical treatment.  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment and impose liability is a subjective determination.  See, e.g., Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d at 534.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, greater credibility must be ascribed to some rather than others.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 087 at 11 (Aug. 25, 2008).  Lay witnesses Green and Mills, and Dr. Levine’s persuasive testimony, is the most credible evidence on this issue.  Of the orthopedic specialists providing expert testimony, Dr. Levine is the most credible and his opinion is given greatest weight on orthopedic issues.  AS 23.30.122.

Employer contends less weight should be given to Dr. Levine’s opinion on Employee’s left shoulder because Employer contends Dr. Levine relied on Employee’s statement denying previous shoulder difficulties.  However, Dr. Levine was aware Employee had prior left shoulder medical treatment as shown by his extensive review of her medical records, which document prior treatment for left shoulder pain and his express acknowledgment Employee sought medical treatment for left shoulder pain prior to her September 2005 work injury.  He was aware of Employee’s preexisting conditions, but opined her conditions and symptoms following her September 2005 injury were very different from occasional aches and pains, mostly in the 1980s and 1990s, she had prior to the 2005 injury.  Dr. Levine’s opinion will not be given less weight on this issue.  AS 23.30.122.

Employer also contends Dr. Levine does not opine Employee’s thoracic spine conditions and symptoms were caused by her September 2005 work injury.  This is incorrect.  Dr. Levine opined Employee’s September 2005 work injury caused her neck, spine and low back symptoms and complaints.  Further, Dr. Fribush testified Employee’s September 2005 injury was significantly traumatic so as to accelerate her underlying arthritis.  Even EIME Dr. Fuller agreed trauma can cause acceleration of arthritis.  Dr. Fuller’s opinion trauma can accelerate arthritis supports Dr. Fribush’s opinion on causation, although Dr. Fuller misunderstood the severity of Employee’s September 2005 work injury and opined the progression of Employee’s spondylosis was natural and not caused by her fall.  Drs. Fribush and Dr. Levine correctly understood the severity of the fall and their opinion on work-relatedness is given greater weight than Dr. Fuller’s on this issue.  
AS 23.30.122.  The evidence shows Employee had a significant and traumatic fall while working for Employer in September 2005.  The objective evidence, including Employee’s 2006 and 2008 MRIs, shows Employee’s arthritis progressed and became disabling after the fall.  The evidence as a whole supports Employee’s September 2005 work injury is a substantial factor in her need for thoracic spine medical treatment. 

Drs. Fuller and Cleary provide alternative causes for Employee’s ongoing cervical and lumbar spine and left shoulder complaints and symptoms.  For example, there is documentation Employee had subsequent flare ups of her conditions and post-injury falls.  Employee does not currently have gout and it is doubtful she ever had it.  Employee does not have an anxiety tension state.  However, even if Employee currently has an anxiety tension state and gout, and even though other preexisting conditions or post-injury events have factored into her past and current need for care, there may be more than one factor, substantial or otherwise, in Employee’s condition and need for treatment.  Carter v. B&B Construction, Inc., 199 P.3d 1150 (Alaska 2008).  As evidenced by credible testimony and considerable medical records, Employee’s September 2005 work injury is a substantial factor in Employee’s ongoing need for spine, left shoulder, and headache medical treatment and her claim for these benefits will be granted.  Accordingly, Employee’s related transportation costs are also compensable.  

ii) Need for medical treatment for Employee’s knees.

Without regard to credibility, Employer rebuts the attached presumption with Dr. Fuller’s opinions.  Employee must prove her claim for knee benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  Although Employee suffered significant trauma to her knees in September 2005, her immediate complaints and symptoms resolved soon after the work injury.  Employee’s work-related bilateral knee injuries resolved by June 30, 2006, when Employee did not have any knee swelling or pain upon examination during Dr. Brigham’s EIME.  Unlike her other conditions and symptoms, Employee did not seek medical care for her knees until years following the injury.  For example, on June 16, 2008, three years after Employee’s 2005 injury, Dr. Fribush diagnosed and treated Employee’s right knee pain.  X-rays taken the same day showed minimal osteoarthritis.  On September 10, 2010, about five years post-2005 injury, Employee was diagnosed and treated for left knee pain.  The lack of medical records documenting any knee complaints in the years following Employee’s September 2005 work injury, especially when Employee’s complaints and symptoms for numerous other body parts were well documented, shows Employee’s bilateral knees were not symptomatic for years following her work injury.  The preponderance of evidence shows Employee’s September 2005 work injury was not a substantial factor in Employee’s ongoing need for bilateral knee medical treatment because her work-related knee injuries and symptoms resolved by June 30, 2006.  Employee’s need for bilateral knee medical treatment after June 30, 2006, is due to the natural progression of Employee’s underlying bilateral knee arthritis.  Employee’s claim for bilateral knee medical treatment and related transportations costs will be denied.

D) Did Employee’s September 11, 2006 work injury aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting back, left shoulder, and knee conditions and symptoms?

An issue in this case is what effect, if any, Employee’s 2006 work-related injury has on her claim for benefits.  This issue raises factual disputes to which the presumption of compensability applies. Without regard to credibility, Employee attached the presumption of compensability to her claim her September 2006 work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting conditions with Dr. Levine’s opinion her September 2006 work injury aggravated, accelerated and combined with her preexisting September 2005 work injury conditions and symptoms.  Again, without respect to credibility, Employer rebutted the presumption with the opinions of Drs. Fuller and Cleary, who opined Employee’s September 2006 work injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting conditions.  They attribute Employee’s worsening condition and symptoms to the natural progression of her underlying arthritis.  Thus, the presumption drops out and Employee must prove her claim her September 2006 work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting conditions by a preponderance of the evidence.  

In this respect, Dr. Brigham opined Employee’s September 2006 work injury did not aggravate her underlying conditions, even temporarily, but he does not provide any analysis or basis for his opinion.  He merely states “it is not felt that the injury of September 11, 2006, was a temporary aggravation or a permanent worsening.”  His opinion in this regard is conclusory and is consequently given less weight on the issue of whether Employee’s September 2006 work aggravated, accelerated or combined with her underlying conditions and symptoms.  
AS 23.30.122.  As discussed above, Dr. Cleary is not credible and his opinions are given very little weight in this case.  Dr. Fuller opined Employee’s September 2006 injury caused a “temporary flare of symptoms” but opined her flare was related to her pre-September 2005 conditions and not her September 2005 work injury.  This decision has determined Employee’s 2005 work injury is a substantial factor in her need for ongoing medical care, and rejected Dr. Fuller’s opinions on that issue.  Dr. Fuller’s opinion Employee’s continuing symptoms after 2006 were related to her pre-2005-existing conditions is similarly rejected for the reasons set forth above in paragraphs A-D.  
AS 23.30.122.

By contrast, for the reasons discussed above, Dr. Levine credibly opined Employee’s September 2006 work injury aggravated and combined with her September 2005 work injury, specifically her neck and back conditions and symptoms.  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence her September 2006 work injury aggravated and combined with her preexisting neck and back condition and symptoms.
E) Was Employee’s September 11, 2006 work injury the substantial cause of her need for medical treatment for her back, left shoulder, knees, and headache conditions and symptoms after that date?

The legal causation test for injuries occurring after November 7, 2005 is different from the test applied to Employee’s September 2005 injury.  Employee’s 2005 injury, discussed above, only needed to be “a substantial factor” in her need for treatment thereafter to be compensable.  To be covered under the Act, or in other words, to be “compensable,” the 2006 injury must be “the substantial cause” of Employee’s disability or need for medical treatment after that date.  It is undisputed Employee’s September 2006 work event of picking up a tray and placing it in a cooler alone was not the substantial cause of, or even a substantial factor in, Employee’s ongoing complaints and symptoms.  No physician opined, and Employee does not contend, Employee’s September 2006 work injury alone is a factor in her disability and need for back, left shoulder, bilateral knee and headache medical treatment.  Given the September 2006 work injury occurred when Employee picked up a tray and placed it in a cooler, the medical evidence shows the 2006 event alone would have produced little if any disability or need for medical treatment.

As there are no factual disputes on this issue, and Employee does not dispute her September 2006 aggravation or combination is not the substantial cause of her ongoing disability and need for medical treatment and contends her ongoing complaints and symptoms relate to her September 2005 work injury, the presumption analysis need not be applied.  However, if the presumption were applied to this issue, Employee would have attached the presumption with Dr. Levine’s opinion the combination of Employee’s September 2005 work injury and her 2006 aggravation was the substantial cause of her disability and need for medical treatment.  Employer would have rebutted the presumption with Drs. Fuller and Cleary’s opinions Employee’s disability and need for medical care is due to her underlying conditions and symptoms.  The burden of persuasion and production of evidence would shift to Employee who would have to prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Runstrom.  

The preponderance of the evidence shows Employee’s 2006 work injury was not the substantial cause, or even a substantial factor, in her disability and need for medical treatment thereafter.  Dr. Fribush opined Employee’s September 2005 work injury is the cause of her disability and need for medical treatment.  Although Dr. Fuller acknowledged Employee’s September 2006 work injury caused a “temporary flare of symptoms,” he opined the September 2006 work injury of picking up a tray and placing it in a cooler did not involve sufficient force to be a factor in Employee’s ongoing disability and need for medical treatment.  Dr. Levine repeatedly stated Employee’s September 2005 work injury was the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment, although he acknowledged Employee’s September 2006 work aggravation combined “to a lesser extent” to produce Employee’s need for medical treatment.  His statements are not evidence Employee’s September 2006 work injury was the substantial cause in her need for medical treatment thereafter.  Although the combined effects of Employee’s September 2005 work injury and her September 2006 work aggravation played “a” role in her disability and need for medical treatment, and though the “combined effects” of the two injuries are likely substantially greater than the minor strain she would likely have had in 2006 absent preexisting conditions, Employee’s September 2006 aggravation or combination is not a substantial factor nor the substantial cause in Employee’s ongoing disability and need for medical treatment.  

2)  Is Employee entitled to TPD benefits?

Employee contends she is entitled to TPD for time she worked for Employer following her injury at reduced hours.  AS 23.30.200.  Employer contends Employee’s work-related conditions were medically stable by December 2006 at the latest and Employee’s inability to return to her regular work is not related to her work injuries.  Employee seeks TPD from November 21, 2007 to February 8, 2010.  The determination of her entitlement turns in part on factual issues to which the presumption of compensability applies.

A) Was Employee unable to return to her regular work from November 21, 2007 to February 8, 2010 because of her work injury?

Applying the legal causation test in effect at the time of Employee’s September 2005 injury, Employee satisfied the presumption analysis’ first step.  Without regard to credibility, Dr. Fribush and Levine opined Employee was disabled because of her work-related injuries and could not return to her job at the time of injury.  This is adequate evidence to raise the presumption and cause it to attach to her TPD claim.  Viewing the evidence in isolation, and without regard to credibility, Drs. Fuller, Brigham and Cleary stated Employee’s inability to return to work is due to her preexisting conditions and not her September 2005 work injury.  These opinions provide substantial evidence to rebut the presumption, cause it to drop out, and require Employee to prove she was partially disabled from November 21, 2007 to February 8, 2010, by a preponderance of the evidence.

As discussed in section 1, Employee’s conditions and symptoms are work-related.  For the reasons previously stated, Drs. Fribush and Levine’s opinions are given greater weight than the other physicians.  Drs. Fribush and Levine’s opinions are supported by Employee’s credible testimony she could work more hours and in heavier duty work before her injury, and less hours in only light duty work after it.  The credible testimony and medical evidence in this case show Employee’s underlying conditions worsened following her September 2005 work injury and resulted in significant disability and need for substantial medical care.  Although conservative treatment helped alleviate some of this pain, over time her conditions deteriorated and progressed so as to be disabling and need significant medical care.  The preponderance of evidence shows Employee had progressive and disabling 2005 injury-related conditions and symptoms, which prevented her from working as much as she was able to before her September 2005 work injury during the period November 21, 2007 to February 8, 2010.  

B) Was Employee Medically Stable between November 21, 2007 and February 8, 2010?

Once an employee is disabled, the law presumes the disability continues until the employer produces substantial evidence to the contrary. Bailey v. Litwin Corp., 713 P.2d 249, 252-54 (Alaska 1986).  Although Employee had work-related disability, AS 23.30.200 limits the duration of disability benefits to the date of medical stability.  “Medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time.  
Employee attaches the presumption of compensability with Dr. Levine’s opinion Employee became medically stable on April 5, 2011, the date of Dr. Fuller’s EIME.  Viewing the evidence in isolation, and without regard to credibility, Drs. Fuller and Brigham opined Employee was medically stable at the time she was examined by Dr. Brigham in June 2006 with regard to Employee’s September 2005 work injury, and November 2006 with regard to Employee’s September 2006 work injury.  These opinions provide substantial evidence to rebut the presumption and cause it to drop out.  Employee would generally then be required to prove she was not medically stable from November 21, 2007 to February 8, 2010, by a preponderance of the evidence.  However, AS 23.30.395(21) changed the application of the presumption with regard to medical stability when there is evidence showing a lack of objectively measurable improvement for more than 45 days.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Leigh, 823 P.2d 1241, 1246 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence showing no objectively measurable improvement for more than 45 days raises a presumption of medical stability, which may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.  Id.; Bouse at 237.  

Employee seeks TPD from November 21, 2007 to February 8, 2010.  Employer contends Employee did not have objectively measurable improvement in the years following her injury.  ARMC chart notes document Employee’s work-related conditions and symptoms showed no objectively measurable improvement for more than 45 days prior to November 21, 2007.  On September 13, 2007, Employee began physical therapy with physical therapist Dan Weaver.  On October 2, 2007, Weaver stated treatment provided Employee temporary pain relief but her overall symptoms were unchanged.  On December 6, 2007, Employee again reported her symptoms remained unchanged.  On February 15, 2008, physical therapist Weaver reported, “There has been no long standing relief from P.T. interventions, however has report short term benefit, requiring less pain meds.”  On March 11, 2010, physical therapist Weaver treated Employee, assessed chronic cervical, thoracic and lumbar pain with radiculopathy, and recommended continuing manual therapy to assist Employee in maintaining function and managing pain symptoms.  This evidence showing no objectively measurable improvement for more than 45 days raises a presumption Employee was medically stable by October 28, 2007, which is 45 days after Employee’s physical therapy began.  Employee is required to rebut this presumption with clear and convincing evidence she was not medically stable by October 28, 2007.  Although Employee had left shoulder surgery in March 2008, there was no recommendation for such surgery until March 25, 2008, when Dr. Black recommended arthroscopy, acromioplasty and possible rotator cuff repair.  Dr. Levine’s opinion Employee was medically stable as of the time of Dr. Fuller’s EIME in April 2011 is not in accord with the medical evidence and the statutory definition of medical stability.  The medical documentation shows no objectively measurable improvement from the effects of Employee’s compensable injury was reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment from October 28, 2007 to March 25, 2008, the date Dr. Black recommended surgery.  Employee does not meet her burden of proving lack of medical stability by clear and convincing evidence with regard to the period October 28, 2007 to March 25, 2008.  Consequently, Employee is not entitled to TPD for the requested period of November 21, 2007 to March 25, 2008.  
On March 25, 2008, Dr. Black recommended surgery and on March 26, 2008, he performed a left shoulder arthroscopy, labral debridement, and acromioplasty.  Dr. Black’s surgery recommendation provides clear and convincing evidence Employee had a reasonable expectation of objectively measurable improvement and consequently Employee was no longer medically stable as of March 25, 2008.  By May 29, 2008, Employee’s left shoulder pain had decreased following the surgery, with a 75 percent improvement in her pain levels.  By July 15, 2008, Employee had regained her range of motion and had no pain or discomfort in her left shoulder.  This is the last date Employee showed objectively measurable improvement following her shoulder surgery.  Employee is presumed to be medically stable by August 29, 2008, which is 45 days after Employee last showed objectively measurable improvement.  Employee failed to rebut this presumption with clear and convincing evidence.  Consequently, Employee is entitled to TPD only from March 25, 2008 to August 29, 2008.  Employee is entitled to TPD, based upon a formula which compares her pre-injury spendable weekly wages to her post-injury wage earning capacity.  Employer will be ordered to pay Employee TPD from March 25, 2008 to August 29, 2008, at the appropriately calculated rate.  Employee is not entitled to TPD from August 29, 2008 to the remainder of the claimed TPD period, as she was medically stable following her left shoulder surgery by August 29, 2008.

3)  Is Employee entitled to additional TTD benefits?

As discussed above in section 2, Employee attached the presumption with Drs. Fribush and Levine’s opinions Employee was disabled because of her work-related injuries and could not return to her job at the time of injury.  Employer rebutted the presumption with Drs. Fuller, Brigham and Cleary’s opinions Employee’s inability to return to work is due to her preexisting conditions and not her September 2005 work injury.  For the reasons previously stated, Drs. Fribush and Levine’s opinions are given greater weight than the other physicians.  Drs. Fribush and Levine’s opinions are supported by Employee’s credible testimony she was unable to work because of her work-related complaints and symptoms during the claimed TTD period.  The credible testimony and medical evidence in this case shows Employee’s underlying conditions worsened following her September 2005 work injury and resulted in significant disability and need for substantial medical care.  
AS 23.30.122.  The preponderance of evidence shows Employee’s progressive and disabling 2005 injury-related conditions and symptoms prevented her from working during the claimed period February 9, 2010 to April 5, 2011.

A) Was Employee Medically Stable between February 9, 2010 to April 5, 2011?

TTD may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.  
AS 23.30.185.  Employee seeks TTD from February 9, 2010 to April 5, 2011.  Applying the presumption of compensability to the factual issue of medical stability, Employee attaches the presumption with Dr. Levine’s opinion Employee became medically stable on April 5, 2011.  Employer rebuts the presumption with Drs. Fuller and Brigham opinions Employee was medically stable in June 2006 with regard to Employee’s September 2005 work injury and November 2006 with regard to her September 2006 work injury.  These opinions provide substantial evidence to rebut the presumption and cause it to drop out.  Employee would generally then be required to prove she was not medically stable from February 9, 2010 to April 5, 2011, by a preponderance of the evidence.  However, evidence showing no objectively measurable improvement for more than 45 days raises a presumption of medical stability, which may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.  Leigh at 1246; Bouse v. Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co., 932 P.2d 222, 237 (Alaska 1997).
As discussed in paragraph 2, ARMC chart notes document Employee was medically stable by August 29, 2008, which is 45 days after Employee last showed objectively measurable improvement following her shoulder surgery.   Employee is required to rebut this presumption with clear and convincing evidence.  Although Employee continued conservative treatment after that date, the fact an employee received medical treatment is insufficient evidence of medical instability absent a reasonable expectation of objectively measurable improvement from that care. AS 23.30.395(21); Robinson v. Municipality of Anchorage, 69 P.3d 489, 498 n. 21 (Alaska 2003).  Employee’s ongoing conservative care was to manage her chronic pain.  Physical therapist Weaver reported manual therapy was continued to help Employee maintain function and provided temporary, partial relief of pain symptoms but Employee’s condition remain unchanged.  For example, on January 15, 2010, physical therapist Weaver reported Employee’s back pain was unrelieved with conservative treatment.  On February 3, 2010, Weaver reported Employee was becoming less able to perform functional activities because of her pain.  The medical documentation shows no objectively measurable improvement from the effects of Employee’s compensable injury was reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment from August 29, 2008 to August 23, 2010, the date Dr. Houston recommended surgery.  Dr. Levine’s opinion Employee was medically stable as of the time of Dr. Fuller’s EIME in April 2011 is not in accord with the medical evidence.  Employee does not meet her burden of proving lack of medical stability by clear and convincing evidence with regard to the period August 29, 2008 to August 23, 2010.  Consequently, Employee is not entitled to TTD from the requested period February 9, 2010 to August 23, 2010.   
On August 23, 2010, Dr. Houston evaluated Employee and recommended a C5-C6 and C6-C7 anterior cervical discectomy with fusion, which was performed on August 25, 2010.  Dr. Houston’s surgery recommendation provides clear and convincing evidence Employee had a reasonable expectation of objectively measurable improvement and consequently was no longer medically stable as of August 23, 2010.  Unfortunately, Employee’s condition did not improve following her August 25, 2010 surgery.  On November 17, 2010, Dr. Fribush stated despite Employee’s course of medical treatment, including massage, physical therapy, epidural steroid injections, and surgery, Employee’s complaints and symptoms had continued to progress.  He opined Employee was totally disabled from all gainful employment due to the severity of her arthritis.  Although Employee still suffers severe pain from her September 2005 work injury, no physician has recommended further medical treatment at this time.  Similarly, there is no further treatment at this time to treat Employee’s work-related aggravation and help prevent Employee’s condition from further deteriorating.  Although Dr. Levine opined Employee may need further medical care in the future depending on the progression of her condition and symptoms, he recommended no further active treatment at this time.  Medical stability is presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days.  Employee failed to rebut this presumption with regard to the period following her August 25, 2010 surgery.  Consequently, medical stability is presumed to have occurred on October 9, 2010, which is 45 days following Employee’s cervical fusion.  Employee is entitled to TTD from August 23, 2010 to October 9, 2010.  Employee is not entitled to TTD from October 9, 2010 to the remainder of the claimed TTD period, as she was medically stable from the cervical fusion surgery as of October 9, 2010.
B) Employer’s Additional Contentions Regarding Employee’s TTD Claim.

Employer next contends if it is determined some of Employee’s body parts are not work-related, no medical opinions exists on the cause of Employee’s disability because Dr. Levine included all body parts as the basis for his opinion.  This decision does not determine whether individual body parts are compensable but instead determines whether Employee’s work-related injuries and resultant disability or need for medical care are compensable.  As decided above, Employee’s need for spine, left shoulder and headache care is compensable.  Employee’s need for ongoing bilateral knee treatment is not.  The work restrictions Dr. Levine opined Employee has as a result of her injuries relate to Employee’s back and shoulder.  Employee’s work restrictions, other than occasional work above shoulder level, are restrictions from keeping her neck in one position for any extended periods of time, or carrying out rapid neck motion or repetitive neck motion, or activities requiring repetitive bending and stooping and pushing and pulling and lifting in excess of 25 pounds.  He does not opine Employee has work restrictions relating to her knees.  His statements on work restrictions relate to Employee’s severe spine and shoulder conditions and symptoms.  Additionally, Employee credibly testified she is unable to work because of her debilitating pain symptoms, especially in her lower back where the pain has become unbearable, like a knife sticking into her back constantly.  The preponderance of the evidence shows Employee’s 2005 work injury was a substantial factor in her disability.
Employer further contends AS 23.30.105(a) bars any claim for TTD prior to March 7, 2009.  Employee requests TTD from February 9, 2010 to April 5, 2011.  She does not request TTD prior to March 7, 2009.  Additionally, AS 23.30.105 provides a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of TTD benefits.  Employer paid Employee disability benefits until its receipt of Dr. Brigham’s June 2006 report.  On April 5, 2007, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim for TTD, TPD and compensation rate adjustment.  Although an August 3, 2007 prehearing conference summary lists only TPD and compensation rate as Employee’s requested claims, on February 10, 2011, Employee confirmed her April 5, 2007 claim was for TTD, TPD and a compensation rate adjustment.  Under 8 AAC 45.050(e), a pleading may be amended at any time before an award.  If the amendment arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out or attempted to be set out in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading.  Employee’s checking of the TTD benefits box on her April 5, 2007 claim shows Employee made a claim for TTD in April 2007, even if she scratched out specific total disability dates.  At the very least, it shows Employee amended her April 5, 2007 claim on February 10, 2011, to include a TTD claim.  This amendment relates back to April 2007, and consequently, Employee’s claim for TTD is not barred under AS 23.30.105(a).  Employer lastly contends Employee is not entitled to TTD after 2011 because no claim for such benefits has been filed.  Employee has not requested benefits for TTD after April 5, 2011 so TTD after 2011 is not currently at issue.  Employer will be liable for additional TTD benefits, from August 23, 2010 to October 9, 2010.
4)  Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits?

There are factual disputes as to this issue.  The presumption of compensability applies to these factual disputes.  Employee attached the presumption of compensability for PPI benefits for her spine, left shoulder and bilateral knee conditions and symptoms with Dr. Levine’s opinion Employee suffered work-related PPI for these conditions.  Employer rebutted the presumption with the opinions of Drs. Brigham, Fuller and Cleary.  They opined no work-related permanent impairment was attributable to Employee’s conditions.  Dr. Cleary’s PPI opinion is given little weight because he is not credible.  Even if Dr. Cleary had been found credible, this decision would still give his opinions less weight because they are based on a misunderstanding of Employee’s complaints, symptoms, treatments, and medical records.  Dr. Fuller’s opinion is also given little weight because he misunderstood Employee’s complaints, symptoms, treatment, and medical records and his opinion was based on his erroneous determination Employee’s continuing conditions and symptoms were not work-related.  Dr. Brigham’s opinion is similarly given less weight.  His opinion Employee had no work-related PPI was also based on his erroneous determination Employee’s continuing conditions and symptoms were due to the natural progression of her underlying conditions and not her September 2005 work injury.  AS 23.30.122.

By contrast, Dr. Levine’s opinion is given considerable weight as he specified how he determined Employee’s PPI ratings.  AS 23.30.122.  His total whole person rating included ratings for Employee’s bilateral knees and Employee’s whole person PPI rating must be recalculated without those values.  Applying the AMA Guides Sixth Edition Combined Value Chart, 15% of the whole person assessed for Employee’s cervical spine impairment combined with 2% of the whole person assessed for her lumbar impairment is equivalent to 17% percent impairment of the whole person, which combined with 2% of the whole person for her left shoulder impairment is 19% percent impairment of the whole person.  

Employee contends the AMA Guides Fifth Edition should be used because it was the edition in effect at the time of her September 2005 injury.  Employee was medically stable following her left shoulder surgery as of August 29, 2008 and following her cervical fusion surgery as of October 9, 2010.  Employee was assessed PPI on December 12, 2011.  When a new edition of the Guides is published, AS 23.30.190 requires selection of a date on which the new edition will be used to make all PPI determinations.  Bulletin No. 08-02, Adoption of American Medical Association’s Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Sixth Edition, provides all permanent partial impairment determinations and ratings under AS 23.30.190(b) must be done using the Guides Sixth Edition, effective March 31, 2008.  Employee’s relevant PPI ratings occurred after March 31, 2008, and consequently the Guides Sixth Edition must be used.
Employee has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence she suffered work-related PPI attributable to her bilateral knee conditions and symptoms.  Dr. Levine’s opinion was based on his mistaken determination Employee’s bilateral knee conditions and symptoms were work-related.  This decision found they were not.  Incorporating the above knee injury analyses here, and viewing the evidence as a whole, Employee failed to meet her burden on this issue.  Her PPI claim for her bilateral knee conditions will be denied.  Because this decision found Employee’s spine and left shoulder compensable injuries, her PPI claim will be granted, and Employer will be directed to pay PPI based on Employee’s 19 percent impairment of the whole person.

5) Is Employee entitled to reemployment benefits?

This is a legal question to which the presumption analysis does not apply.  Employee has proven she suffered work-related PPI relating to her left shoulder and cervical and lumbar spine.  Employee has also proven her September 2005 work injury is a substantial factor in her inability to return to work.  Alaska law gives the reemployment benefits administrator (RBA) the right to decide initially if Employee is entitled to an eligibility evaluation and ultimately if Employee is eligible for reemployment and retraining benefits.  No RBA determination has been made in this case.  If Employee wants to pursue reemployment benefits, she should contact the RBA and make the appropriate request.  Employer may raise any appropriate defenses.  Consequently, Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA.

6) Is Employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment?

Employee contends her benefit rate should be calculated based on her earnings at the time of her 2005 work injury while Employer contends it should be calculated based on Employee’s earnings at the time of her 2006 work injury.  This is in accordance with provisions in the Act stating “spendable weekly wage” and hence, weekly benefit rate, must be computed with reference to Employee’s earnings at “the time of injury.”  AS 23.30.220(a).  Although the Act does not specify which injury in a series of injuries with the same employer should be the basis for the rate calculation, the Alaska Supreme Court has held the injury used for this purpose must, at a minimum, be a legal cause of the disability.  Wells v. Swalling Const. Co., Inc., 994 P.2d 34, 37-38 (Alaska 1997).  It stated there would be no reason to assign such importance to the date of an injury that was not a legal cause of the compensable disability.  Id. at 38.  Employee’s September 2006 injury was found not to be a substantial factor or the substantial cause in her ongoing disability including for the period for which she seeks disability benefits.  Consequently, the 2006 date of injury and event is not a legal cause of Employee’s disability and thus cannot be used for purposes of calculating Employee’s disability benefit rate.  Employee’s temporary disability compensation rate, and any related benefits, will be based on her earnings at the time of her September 2005 injury.
7) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs, and if so, in what amount?

Employer vigorously resisted this case, so fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b) may be awarded.  Employee retained an attorney who was successful in prosecuting the most significant and complex claims in this case.  This decision awarding past and future medical benefits for Employee’s spine and left shoulder is an especially significant benefit to Employee.

Mr. Croft submitted five attorney’s fee affidavits.  The first itemized 99.5 hours of attorney time at rates of $350.00 and $400.00 per hour and 69.7 hours of paralegal time at rates of $150.00 and $160.00 per hour, for a total of $50,512.00 in fees.  He filed an itemization of costs totaling $4,701.50.  A supplemental fee and cost affidavit itemized an additional 41 hours of attorney time and 15.6 hours of paralegal time, at rates of $400.00 and $160.00 per hour respectively, for a total of $18,896.00 in fees.  He filed an itemization of additional costs totaling $1,786.15.  The second supplemental affidavit itemized an additional 6.7 hours of attorney time at $400.00 per hour and 3.8 hours of paralegal time at $160.00 per hour for a total of $3,288.00 in additional fees.  A third supplemental affidavit itemized an additional 23 hours of attorney time at $400.00 per hour and 14.5 hours of paralegal time at $160.00 per hour for a total of $11,520.00 in additional fees.  A fourth supplemental affidavit itemized an additional .5 hours of paralegal time at $160.00 per hour and $1,903.71 in additional costs.  Total attorney’s fees and costs equal $92,687.36.  

The requested hourly rates and itemized hours for Employee’s attorney’s fees and costs are reasonable.  This conclusion is based on experience with other attorneys representing injured workers in workers’ compensation cases, with equal or less experience than Mr. Croft.  The primary issue in this hotly contested and complex case was whether Employee’s permanent partial impairment, disability and need for medical treatment is compensable.  Employee was successful on this main issue.  To the extent Employee was not awarded the full amount of each type of benefit she requested, the time spent on the unsuccessful portions of her claims was minimal.  The attorney’s fees affidavits do not reflect any misapplied time.  The affidavits reflect the time expended developing the case would be the same, whether or not the unsuccessful portions of her claims had been prosecuted.  

Employer objected to Employee’s attorney fees request, contending Employee should not be entitled to an award of fees for services performed on claims withdrawn prior to hearing and asserts fees should be reduced for any claims on which Employee successfully prosecuted only in part.  Employer cites no legal authority for these positions.  To reduce every fee award by attorney time spent evaluating and investigating a claim when specific benefits were not later pursued would have a chilling effect on an attorney’s willingness to represent injured workers in cases in which the outcome is not immediately clear.  Such a result would be contrary to the legislative intent to promote the availability of counsel for injured workers, as outlined by the Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors and Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission in Lewis-Walunga.  Employee’s fee award will not be reduced for time incurred in evaluating and investigating benefits Employee did not ultimately pursue at hearing.    The fee award will also not be reduced for time spent on claims Employee successfully prosecuted but where the benefits obtained were less than those requested.  AS 23.30.145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes the employee’s claim.  Employee’s main claim was for PPI, disability and medical benefits.  Employee was awarded PPI, disability and medical benefits.  Consequently, Employee’s attorney successfully prosecuted her claim. 
Employer also contends Employee is only entitled to an award of fees for services performed with respect to issues on which she prevails, citing Williams v. Abood, 53 P.3d 134, 147 (Alaska 2002).  Employer cites no other legal authority for its position.  In Williams, the Alaska Supreme Court held the board did not abuse its discretion in awarding one-half of actual attorney’s fees where claimant had prevailed on relatively few issues.  Here, Employee requested medical benefits and related transportation costs relating to her upper back, mid-back, lower back, left shoulder, bilateral knees and headaches, TPD, additional TTD, PPI, a determination she has work-related PPI and is unable to return to work because of her work injury for reemployment benefits purposes, a compensation rate adjustment and attorney’s fees and costs.  This complex case involved the evaluation of numerous expert witness opinions.  Employer vigorously disputed Employee was entitled to any of these benefits.  With the exception of bilateral knee medical care and related transportation costs, Employee was awarded these benefits after hearing.  Employee prevailed on the primary issues in her case and prevailed on the majority of the issues.  The Appeals Commission addressed this issue in Lewis-Walunga, noting the balance between the legislature’s intent to promote access to legal representation for injured workers against the cost to the public and employers of unnecessary litigation of doubtful claims.  Here, while some of Employee’s arguments were ultimately unpersuasive, they were legitimately based in law or fact.  The attorney’s fees award will not be reduced by time spent pursuing the few requested benefits on which Employee did not prevail.

Employer did not otherwise object to Employee’s attorney’s hourly rate, hours or costs.  Considering the nature, length, and complexity of the case and services performed, Employer’s resistance and the benefits resulting to Employee from the services obtained, Employee is awarded $92,687.36 in attorney’s fees and costs.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1)  Employee is entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment and related transportation costs for her spine, left shoulder, and headaches.  Employee is not entitled to medical treatment and related transportation costs for her bilateral knee conditions and symptoms.

2)  Employee is entitled to TPD benefits.

3)  Employee is entitled to additional TTD benefits.

4)  Employee is entitled to PPI benefits.

5)  Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA.

6)  Employee is entitled to a compensation rate adjustment.

7)  Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs.

ORDER

1)  Employee’s claim for past and ongoing medical treatment and related transportation costs for her spine, left shoulder and headaches is granted.

2)  Employee’s claim for past and ongoing medical treatment and related transportation costs for her knees is denied.

3)  Employee’s claim for TPD benefits is granted.  Employee is awarded TPD from March 25, 2008 to August 29, 2008, which Employer is to pay pursuant to the Act, regulations and case law.

4)  Employee’s claim for additional TTD benefits is granted.  Employee is awarded TTD from August 23, 2010 to October 9, 2010, which Employer is to pay pursuant to the Act, regulations and case law.

5)  Employee’s claim for PPI benefits is granted.  Employer shall pay Employee $33,630.00 in PPI.

6)  Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA.

7)  Employee’s claim for a compensation rate adjustment is granted.  Employee shall be paid temporary disability and any related benefits based upon a calculation using her 2005 date of injury.

8)  Employee’s claim for an award of attorney’s fees and costs is granted.  Employee is awarded $92,687.36 in attorney’s fees and costs.
Dated in Juneau, Alaska this 19th day of December, 2012.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the board and all other parties to the proceedings before the board.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier.  AS 23, 30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken. 
AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of CHARLENE WOLFE employee/applicant v. STATE OF ALASKA, self-insured defendant; Case Nos. 200517018M, 200614753; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, on December 19, 2012.






Sue Reishus-O’Brien, Workers’ Compensation Officer
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